<u>BRENNAN</u> <u>CENTER</u> For Justice



An Election Agenda for Candidates, Activists, and Legislators

Criminal Justice

by Lauren-Brooke Eisen and Inimai Chettiar

Brennan Center for Justice at New York University School of Law

VOTE

Sign Time 407-316-009 Orlands F

About the Brennan Center for Justice

The Brennan Center for Justice at NYU School of Law is a nonpartisan law and policy institute that works to reform, revitalize — and when necessary defend — our country's systems of democracy and justice. At this critical moment, the Brennan Center is dedicated to protecting the rule of law and the values of constitutional democracy. We focus on voting rights, campaign finance reform, ending mass incarceration, and preserving our liberties while also maintaining our national security. Part think tank, part advocacy group, part cutting-edge communications hub, we start with rigorous research. We craft innovative policies. And we fight for them — in Congress and the states, in the courts, and in the court of public opinion.

About the Brennan Center's Justice Program

The Brennan Center's Justice Program seeks to secure our nation's promise of "equal justice for all" by creating a rational, effective, and fair justice system. The program's priority focus is to reduce mass incarceration while keeping down crime. The program melds law, policy, and economics to produce new empirical analyses, craft innovative policy solutions, and advance legislative and litigation efforts.

About the Brennan Center's Publications

Red cover | Research reports offer in-depth empirical findings.
Blue cover | Policy proposals offer innovative, concrete reform solutions.
White cover | White papers offer a compelling analysis of a pressing legal or policy issue.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Michael Waldman for his vision in developing this Agenda; Vivien Watts and John Kowal for their insights; and Adureh Onyekwere, Natasha Camhi, Bryan Furst, Ames Grawert, James Cullen, Vienna Thompkins, and Sunwoo Oh for their work and research contributions to this report. They also thank Noah Atchison for his research assistance, and Rebecca Autrey, Yuliya Bas, Lisa Benenson, Trip Eggert, Stephen Fee, Theresa Jefferson, Jim Lyons, and Alden Wallace for their editing and communications assistance.

© 2018. This paper is covered by the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs license. It may be reproduced in its entirety as long as the Brennan Center for Justice at NYU School of Law is credited, a link to the Center's web pages is provided, and no charge is imposed. The paper may not be reproduced in part or in altered form, or if a fee is charged, without the Center's permission. Please let the Center know if you reprint.

About the Authors

Lauren-Brooke Eisen is senior counsel for policy innovation in the Justice Program at the Brennan Center for Justice. With expertise in criminal law and practice, Ms. Eisen spearheads the program's creation of innovative policy proposals and legal recommendations. Previously, she was a senior program associate at the Vera Institute of Justice in the Center on Sentencing and Corrections. Eisen also served as an assistant district attorney in New York City in the Sex Crimes and Special Victims Bureau, Criminal Court Bureau, and Appeals Bureau, where she prosecuted a wide variety of criminal cases. She has worked as a journalist in Laredo, Texas, covering crime and justice; served as an adjunct instructor at the John Jay College of Criminal Justice; and taught a seminar on mass incarceration at Yale College. She holds an A.B. from Princeton University and a J.D. from the Georgetown University Law Center.

Inimai Chettiar is director of the Justice Program at the Brennan Center for Justice. She has published extensively on legal and policy reform to reduce mass incarceration. Chettiar was previously counsel at the ACLU, where she led state legislative efforts to end mass incarceration nationwide. She has also served as a fellow at the Center for American Progress, a fellow at NYU Law School's Institute for Policy Integrity, a litigation associate at Debevoise & Plimpton LLP, and a clerk for the Hon. Lawrence M. McKenna in the Southern District of New York. She holds a B.A. *cum laude* from Georgetown University and a J.D. *cum laude* from the University of Chicago School of Law, where she served as comment editor for *The Law Review*.

BRENNAN CENTER For Justice

Foreword

How can we fix American government? How can we make sure it works for all?

In the wake of the convulsive 2016 election, there may be no more pressing question.

Nor will 2016 likely be the last such eruption. American politics has stagnated for years, locked in arid debate on old ideas. Political parties have become increasingly tribal. Elections are drenched in money and marked by intense polarization. Government dysfunction has created an opening for racially divisive backlash politics, while ignoring long-range economic, social and environmental challenges.

Until we reckon with that public discontent, we'll continue to be entangled in the same battles we've been fighting for decades.

It is time for fresh thinking, which is why the Brennan Center for Justice is producing Solutions 2018, a series of three reports setting out democracy and justice reforms that are intended to help break the grip of destructive polarization.

This volume sets out proposals to reform the criminal justice system and end mass incarceration. Others will show how we can ensure free and fair elections, curb the role of big money in American politics, and protect constitutional freedoms amid new threats.

We hope these proposals are useful to candidates, officeholders, activists, and citizens. The 2018 election should be more than a chance to send a message. It should be an opportunity to demand a focus on real change.

What counts is not what we are against, but what we are for.

Michael Walde

Michael Waldman President

Table of Contents

Executive Summary 1
Eliminate Financial Incentives for Incarceration
1. End the Federal Subsidization of Mass Incarceration
2. Abolish State Cash Bail
3. Calibrate State Fines to Defendants' Ability to Pay
Enact Sentencing Reform
1. Pass the Federal Sentencing Reform and Corrections Act
2. Eliminate State Imprisonment for Lower-Level Crimes
3. Make State Sentences Proportional to Crimes
4. Cut State Imprisonment by 40 Percent
Pass Sensible Marijuana Reform
1. Prevent Federal Interference in State Marijuana Laws
2. Reform State Marijuana Laws
Improve Law Enforcement
1. Create a Federal Police Corps
2. Pass State Laws Encouraging Police to Divert Individuals to Social Services
3. Change Federal Prosecutor Incentives
4. Reform State Prosecutor Incentives
5. Adopt New Practices for Local Prosecutors
Respond to the Opioid Crisis
1. Advance a Sensible National Response to Opioids
2. Reduce State Opioid Deaths
Reduce Female Incarceration
1. Pass the Federal Dignity for Incarcerated Women Act
2. Curb the Number of Women Entering State Prisons
Endnotes



Criminal Justice Reform

FEDERAL AND STATE SOLUTIONS

Eliminate Financial Incentives for Incarceration Enact Sentencing Reform Pass Sensible Marijuana Reform Improve Law Enforcement Respond to the Opioid Crisis Reduce Female Incarceration

BRENNAN CENTER For Justice

Executive Summary

This report sets forth an affirmative agenda to end mass incarceration in America. The task requires efforts from both federal and state lawmakers.

Today, criminal justice reform stands on a knife's edge. After decades of rising incarceration and ever more obvious consequences, a powerful bipartisan movement has emerged. It recognizes that harsh prison policies are not needed to keep our country safe.

Now that extraordinary bipartisan consensus is challenged by the Trump Administration, through inflammatory rhetoric and unwise action. Only an affirmative move to continue reform can keep progress going.

The United States has less than 5 percent of the world's population, but nearly one-quarter of its prisoners.¹ About 2.1 million people are incarcerated in this country, and the vast majority are in state and local facilities.² Mass incarceration contributes significantly to the poverty rate.³ It is inequitable, placing a disproportionate burden on communities of color. It is wildly expensive, in some cases costing more to keep an 18-year-old in prison than it would to send him to Harvard.⁴ Our criminal justice system costs \$270 billion annually, yet does not produce commensurate public safety benefits.⁵

Research conclusively shows that high levels of imprisonment are simply not necessary to protect communities. About four out of every ten prisoners are incarcerated with little public safety justification.⁶ In fact, 27 states have reduced both imprisonment and crime in the last decade.⁷ A group of over 200 police chiefs, prosecutors, and sheriffs has formed whose founding principles states: "We do not believe that public safety is served by a return to tactics that are overly punitive without strong purpose . . . we cannot incarcerate our way to safety."⁸

In cities, states, and at the federal level, Republicans and Democrats have joined this effort. They recognize that today's public safety challenges demand new and innovative politics rooted in science and based on what works. The opioid epidemic, mass shootings, and cyber crime all require modern responses that do not repeat mistakes of the past.

Crime is no longer a wedge issue, and voters desire reform. A 2017 poll from the Charles Koch Institute reveals that 81 percent of Trump voters consider criminal justice reform important.⁹ Another, from Republican pollster Robert Blizzard, finds that 87 percent of Americans agree that nonviolent offenders should be sanctioned with alternatives to incarceration.¹⁰ And according to a 2017 ACLU poll, 71 percent of Americans support reducing the prison population — including 50 percent of Trump voters.¹¹

But the politician with the loudest megaphone has chosen a different, destructive approach. Donald Trump and Attorney General Jeff Sessions falsely insist there is a national crime wave,¹² portraying a country besieged by crime, drugs, and terrorism — "American carnage," as he called it in his inaugural address.¹³ But crime in the United States remains at historic lows. While violent crime and murder did increase in 2015 and 2016, new data show crime and violence declining again in 2017.¹⁴ The national murder rate is approximately half of what it was at its 1991 peak.¹⁵

Those who seek to use fear of crime for electoral gain are not just wrong on the statistics. They are also wrong on the politics.

To continue the progress that has been made, it is up to candidates running for office to boldly advance policy solutions backed by facts, not fear. This report offers reforms that would keep crime low, while significantly reducing incarceration. Most solutions can be enacted through federal or state legislation. While most of the prison population is under the control of state officials, federal policy matters too. The federal government's prison population is larger than that of any state.¹⁶ Further, Washington defines the national political conversation on criminal justice reform. And although states vary somewhat in their approach to criminal justice, they struggle with similar challenges. The state solutions in this report are broadly presented as models that can be adapted.

Eliminate Financial Incentives for Mass Incarceration

- End the Federal Subsidization of Mass Incarceration. Federal grants help shape criminal justice policy at state and local levels. For decades, these grants have subsidized the growth of incarceration. To reverse that flow, Congress can pass the Reverse Mass Incarceration Act. This bill would dedicate \$20 billion over 10 years to states that reduce both crime and incarceration, reshaping state and local policy.¹⁷ It is the biggest step the federal government can take to end overincarceration.
- Abolish State Cash Bail. The decision on whether a defendant should be jailed while awaiting trial is often based on a defendant's wealth, not on public safety. Rich offenders can literally buy their way out of jail, while poor people charged with nonviolent crimes remain incarcerated for want of a few hundred dollars. This is unfair and unsafe. States can abolish cash bail, and instead make detention decisions based on an objective analysis of whether a defendant will return to court or poses public safety risks.
- Calibrate State Fines to Defendants' Ability to Pay. Courts also continue to levy fees and fines on people convicted of crimes and civil violations. While doing so, they fail to consider someone's ability to actually pay the debt demanded of them, often causing people to cycle through modern-day debtors' prisons. To end this practice, states can require courts to calibrate their fees and fines to a defendant's income and ability to pay.

Enact Sentencing Reform

- **Pass the Federal Sentencing Reform and Corrections Act.** Federal prison sentences are far too long, saddling offenders with punishments that bear little relationship to public safety or deterrence. The Sentencing Reform and Corrections Act, backed by a powerful bipartisan coalition, would cautiously reduce federal sentences in some cases, a first step toward broader sentencing reform.
- Eliminate State Imprisonment for Lower-Level Crimes. Incarceration is too often the punishment of first resort. It is expensive, often counterproductive, and should be used consistently to meet the overarching goals of enhancing public safety and rehabilitation. Sentencing laws can be reconstructed to fit these parameters and eliminate prison as a punishment in more cases. If implemented nationwide, it would lead to a 25 percent reduction in the national prison population while preserving public safety.¹⁸

- Make State Sentences Proportional to Crimes. Similarly, state prison sentences are also excessively long. A growing volume of research shows that there is little or no relationship between length of incarceration and recidivism. Recalibrating state prison sentences around common-sense factors, rather than simple retribution, would safely cut another 14 percent of the prison population.¹⁹
- **Cut State Imprisonment by 40 Percent.** Better yet, the foregoing two solutions combined would net a 40 percent reduction in incarceration, as explained in a 2016 Brennan Center report. This is the first comprehensive plan to safely and significantly cut mass incarceration. It would save more than \$180 million over the next decade the equivalent of 270,000 police officers, or 360,000 probation officers.²⁰

Pass Sensible Marijuana Reform

- Prevent Federal Interference in State Laws. Most Americans around 60 percent

 support marijuana legalization.²¹ Thirty states and the District of Columbia have decriminalized marijuana in some fashion²² either easing penalties for marijuana use or legalizing the drug outright, while keeping down crime. Yet federal laws still punish marijuana harshly.²³ Worse, the Justice Department has taken steps to increase federal prosecution of marijuana even in states that have decriminalized it. As more states look to decriminalize marijuana, Congress can halt this contradictory approach by prohibiting federal interference in state marijuana policy, eliminating prison as a sanction for marijuana offenses, or classifying marijuana as a less serious drug.
- **Reform State Marijuana Laws.** More states can bring their marijuana laws in line with what voters want. They can eliminate imprisonment for marijuana offenses, or ease restrictions on the drug especially as Washington heads in the opposite direction.

Improve Law Enforcement

- **Create a Federal Police Corps.** The relationship between police and communities of color has grown increasingly tense. To rebuild this important bond, while increasing the ability of police to fight crime, Congress can fund the recruitment and training of a new generation of police officers, trained in 21st century techniques such as conflict de-escalation, community policing, and reducing unnecessary arrests and incarceration. This program could help reshape American law enforcement to better fight crime without exacerbating mass incarceration.
- Pass State Laws Encouraging Police to Divert Individuals to Social Services. Police often lack appropriate pathways to send individuals they encounter whether or not they are suspects to necessary social services. As a result, police arrest and book people when unnecessary. This has turned America's jails and prisons into de facto drug and mental health treatment facilities, as people with profound health problems are sent to prison instead of receiving the help they need. Police departments across the country have developed innovative programs that divert individuals to social services and treatment instead of arresting and jailing them. States can increase funding for such programs.

- Change Federal Prosecutor Incentives. There is an increasing awareness of the role of prosecutors in mass incarceration. Current metrics for evaluating prosecutors reward them for pursuing more cases, winning more convictions, and garnering longer sentences. Congress can provide bonus dollars to federal prosecutors' offices that reduce crime and incarceration in their districts. This will encourage prosecutors to only use incarceration when necessary, and to shift their practices to a more modern and equitable model. Alternatively, a similar reform can be implemented by a more amenable Justice Department.
- **Reform State Prosecutor Incentives.** States can similarly incentivize local prosecutors to change their practices. They could pass legislation that would charge counties for their share of the prison population, or reward prosecutors' offices that reduce crime and incarceration in their jurisdictions.
- Adopt New Practices for Local Prosecutors. A large coalition of mainstream prosecutors and police has formed across the country to call for an end to unnecessary incarceration. Dozens of reform-minded prosecutors are being swept into office.²⁴ These leaders can advance justice reform through hiring and training a new generation of prosecutors, changing incentives for line prosecutors, and declining to prosecute minor offenses, among other reforms.

Respond to the Opioid Crisis

- Advance a Sensible National Response to Opioids. Opioid overdose deaths are at a record high.²⁵ But the White House's new "war on opioids" is not the answer. Conservatives, progressives, and law enforcement officials agree that the original war on drugs did not work. Congress can offer modern solutions without repeating mistakes of the past. It can start by: reducing the flow of opioids, expanding resources for prevention and treatment, and encouraging the Justice Department to focus enforcement on major traffickers and abusive marketers.
- **Reduce State Opioid Deaths.** Similarly, states can regulate opioid prescriptions, expand prevention and treatment resources, and divert those struggling with addiction to treatment instead of prison.

Reduce Female Incarceration

- **Pass the Federal Dignity for Incarcerated Women Act.** For the last 40 years, the growth rate of incarcerated women has been double that of men. One in four women is pregnant or has a child under the age of one when she enters prison.²⁶ The prison system was not built to respond to the needs of women. The Dignity for Incarcerated Women Act would expand visitation policies for mothers, eliminate shackling, and enhance access to female health needs.
- **Curb the Number of Women Entering State Prisons.** The solutions throughout this report would help free women who are unnecessarily incarcerated. As an additional measure, states can ensure that female defendants, especially mothers of young children, are diverted to alternatives to prison when possible.



Eliminate Financial Incentives for Incarceration

- 1. End the Federal Subsidization of Mass Incarceration
- 2. Abolish State Cash Bail
- 3. Calibrate State Fines to Defendants' Ability to Pay

1. End the Subsidization of Mass Incarceration

While the national prison crisis has many causes, a principal contributor is a web of perverse financial incentives that spur arrests, prosecutions, and lengthy prison sentences.

Even though criminal justice policy is largely a state and local affair, the federal government plays an outsize role through the \$8.4 billion in grants it awards annually.²⁷ Since the 1960s, much of this funding has gone to support tougher sentences, more arrests, and more prisons.

A prime example is the Violent Crime Control and Law Enforcement Act of 1994 (the Crime Bill). It authorized \$12.5 billion for states to increase incarceration.²⁸ Twenty states did just that, resulting in a dramatic rise in prison populations.²⁹ For decades, through such programs, the federal government has sent grants to states and cities on autopilot to subsidize the "war on drugs" and to aid other anti-crime initiatives. Jurisdictions often seek these additional "bonus" dollars and will modify policy to get them.

To change course, the federal government can deploy a similar menu of incentives. Termed a "Reverse Crime Bill," or the Reverse Mass Incarceration Act. Essentially a "reverse" of the 1994 bill, it would reward those states that reduce both crime and imprisonment. The legislation would

The Reverse Mass Incarceration Act would accelerate progress in the states. If enacted, it would reduce the national prison population by up to 20 percent over 10 years, saving \$97 billion. authorize \$20 billion in funds over 10 years to states that cut their prison populations by 7 percent every three years and stabilize or lower crime. This can be done either by creating a new grant, or by directing current funds to support state activities proven to reduce crime and incarceration. States would be free to choose the best path to achieve these goals, rather than obeying some federal mandate.

This proposal is the most powerful tool the federal government has to end mass incarceration. It is the only proposed solution

that would help rein in state prison populations (where 87 percent of the country's prison population is housed), while ensuring the hard-earned public safety gains over the past quartercentury are not lost.³⁰ States like Illinois have used similar financial incentives to encourage counties to reduce imprisonment rates.³¹

Legislation of this type has already been introduced in Congress: H.R. 3845 by Rep. Tony Cárdenas (D-Calif.) and S. 1458 sponsored by Sens. Cory Booker (D-N.J.) and Richard Blumenthal (D.-Conn).³² If Congress used current grant streams, instead of creating a new one, these proposals could gain bipartisan support. Conservative and liberal groups alike — from the R Street Institute to the NAACP to the Police Foundation — support tying federal grants to measurable reductions in crime and incarceration.³³ As noted above, 27 states cut crime and imprisonment rates simultaneously.³⁴ This politically and geographically diverse group includes California, New York, and Texas.³⁵ The Reverse Mass Incarceration Act would accelerate progress in the states. If enacted, it would reduce the national prison population by up to 20 percent over 10 years, saving \$97 billion.³⁶

Some academics argue the allotted funds are insufficient to create change, and the bill doesn't provide incentives to local prosecutors and corrections officials. History has repeatedly shown, however, that local actors clamor for federal funds and change their behavior to get them, even for small amounts. In addition, local prosecutors and corrections officials would be able to receive these funds from their states if they reduce crime and incarceration together. The bill creates incentives for all state and local actors to change their behavior.

2. Abolish Cash Bail

Most states still make decisions regarding whether a suspect should remain behind bars while waiting for a trial based primarily on the defendant's financial means. Judges release defendants in exchange for money deposited with the court (i.e., bail) to ensure the defendant returns to court. If a defendant fails to show up for the next hearing, he forfeits the money.

This system is wildly inequitable, affecting the poor disproportionately. It is difficult for many individuals to come up with dollar amounts (such as \$1,000) to secure release while wealthy individuals, some of whom are charged with more serious crimes, avoid jail because they can afford bail. Approximately 450,000 people are currently in jail awaiting trial.³⁷

This wealth-based system of pretrial detention must end. Not only is it morally objectionable, it does little to protect public safety.

In almost every jurisdiction, per state statute, the court can consider only two factors in deciding whether to even offer the defendant the option of bail. They are: the likelihood the defendant will again appear in court, and whether the defendant will be arrested for a new crime while awaiting trial.

Detaining a defendant before trial has grave risks for both the defendant and the community. Research finds that those jailed pretrial are four times more likely to be sentenced to prison compared to those released before trial.³⁸ Jailed defendants are quicker to plead guilty after experiencing horrific conditions. They therefore often decide to plead guilty to a lower charge and accept fewer years behind bars rather than roll the dice at trial on a higher charge carrying more time — even if they could win in court.³⁹

Research finds that those jailed pretrial are four times more likely to be sentenced to prison compared to those released before trial. In lieu of money bail, many states are changing to a system more grounded in public safety. They have directed courts to assess the risk each defendant poses either of not returning to court for trial or of committing a crime while released. These assessments analyze factors such as a defendant's work and arrest history, and categorize defendants into low, medium, or high risk. Judges then consider these risks in determining whether a defendant is eligible for pre-trial release. Of course, judges must also retain discretion when making these decisions.⁴⁰

New Jersey and Kentucky have made such changes. New Jersey eliminated cash bail and moved to risk assessments in January 2017. By January 2018, the state decreased its pretrial population by 20 percent.⁴¹ Kentucky has relied on pretrial risk assessments since 2011 and has seen positive results, to the tune of 90 percent of released defendants returning to court and not committing new crimes.⁴²

Some researchers warn that these assessments can exacerbate unjust racial disparities. The assessments consider social factors — such as education level, family structure, or employment history — that can negatively affect African-American and Latino defendants due to structural societal inequities. Any system of risk assessment must ensure that it does exacerbate racial disparities.⁴³

3. Calibrate Fines to Defendants' Ability to Pay

The criminal justice system, and the courts in particular, increasingly rely on funding from fines⁴⁴ collected from defendants, many of whom are financially struggling. It is, to put it mildly, an absurd system that extracts a heavy human toll. Oftentimes when defendants cannot pay their fines, they are simply locked up, turning jails into modern day debtors' prisons, with defendants racking up even more fees they cannot possibly repay.⁴⁵

These charges are an outgrowth of mass incarceration. As the criminal justice system exploded, so did its costs. States — many facing tight budgets — chose to shift the increasing cost to defendants instead of picking up the tab.

These fines frequently cause profound harm to criminal defendants, their families, and entire communities. This is particularly the case when nonpayment results in incarceration. And criminal justice debt functions as a significant barrier to a person's chances to successfully re-enter society after a conviction. Even assuming an ex-offender can find a job, typically paying minimum wage, the earnings are reduced to practically nothing because of garnishments to pay their bill to the criminal justice system.⁴⁶

What is required is a calibration of fines commensurate with a defendant's ability to pay them. The most practical way to implement this policy is to assess fines based on a percentage of a defendant's income. This is commonly referred to as a "day fine."⁴⁷ Fines are denoted in terms of the number of days of income a person must forego. Courts are then authorized to scale financial sanctions up or down depending on a defendant's income. Calculations of such fines are relatively simple as they depend on the defendant's income and other assets.

Day fines were successfully implemented for a brief period in Maricopa County, Arizona, as part of a series of experiments during the late 1980s. During this period the percentage of people fully paying off their court debt more than doubled during the experiment, ultimately increasing the revenue generated by the fines. The recidivism rate also dropped from 17 percent to 11 percent for this group.⁴⁸ While jurisdictions like Maricopa County saw day fines successfully implemented, in other parts of the country the experiments were deemed failures. Experts agree the practice did not take off largely because it was conceived at the height of the "tough on crime" furor of the late 1980s and early 1990s, when policymakers were less receptive to graduated sanctions that were seen as the opposite of punitive.⁴⁹

Additionally, implementing a system of graduated sanctions can be challenging because of the difficulty of obtaining financial information, and the complication of performing ability-to-pay calculations can burden already overworked court staff.⁵⁰ But a well-designed system for graduating economic sanctions need not be complicated or hard to implement. Calculations can be simple and easy with basic tools of accounting.⁵¹



Enact Sentencing Reform

- 1. Pass the Federal Sentencing Reform and Corrections Act
- 2. Eliminate State Imprisonment for Lower-Level Crimes
- 3. Make State Sentences Proportional to Crimes
- 4. Cut State Imprisonment by 40 Percent

1. Pass the Sentencing Reform and Corrections Act

Over the past 30 years, Congress has passed more than 100 new laws imposing mandatory minimum sentences, causing the federal prison population to balloon by 750 percent, from 22,000 prisoners to 200,000.⁵² This increase did not come without a steep price tag. Federal prison spending grew more than 600 percent during this time.⁵³

Today's prison population is slightly below the 2012 peak, but the system is still well over capacity.⁵⁴ This year, however, the Department of Justice projects a 2 percent growth, reversing this trend.⁵⁵

One solution: Pass federal legislation to reduce unnecessarily long sentences.

In October, a bipartisan group of lawmakers reintroduced the Sentencing Reform and Corrections Act of 2017 (SRCA). Sponsors included Sen. Judiciary Committee Chair Chuck Grassley (R-Iowa), Jeff Flake (R-Ariz.), Lindsey Graham (R-S.C.), Mike Lee (R-Utah), Tim Scott (R-S.C.), Cory Booker (D-N.J.), Dick Durbin (D-Ill.), and Patrick Leahy (D-Vt.). The bill would reduce mandatory minimum sentences for nonviolent drug offenders, provide more discretion to judges, and increase reentry programming proven to cut recidivism.

Connecticut, South Carolina, and Ohio have proven that reducing mandatory minimums works.

Of course, federal sentencing reform cannot end mass incarceration alone. But it is a needed step. Although the bill passed the Senate Judiciary Committee, 16-5, and is backed by advocates across the political spectrum and law enforcement groups such as Law Enforcement Leaders to Reduce Crime and Incarceration, it is staunchly opposed by Sessions and the White House.⁵⁶ Sessions successfully

killed the 2015 version of this bill. Further, Sessions has issued orders to increase federal charges and encourage more drug prosecutions, which will likely increase the federal prison population.⁵⁷

In contrast, several states, such as Connecticut, South Carolina, and Ohio, have proven that reducing mandatory minimums works.⁵⁸ These states and others have enacted reforms, and seen crime and prison rates fall simultaneously.⁵⁹ And research indicates that excessive incarceration can increase crime in some cases. Criminologists often call prison "criminogenic," meaning it can increase the criminal behavior of prisoners upon release.⁶⁰ Studies have shown this effect is particularly powerful on lower-level and nonviolent offenders.⁶¹

By reducing mandatory minimums for nonviolent offenders, the SRCA will align federal policy with the latest research, both preserving reductions in crime and reducing unnecessary incarceration. This action will push back on Session's efforts to increase federal imprisonment.

2. Eliminate Imprisonment for Lower-Level Crimes

Incarceration is too often the punishment of first resort. Since 1970, the state prison population has grown by more than by 650 percent, today standing at 1.3 million prisoners.⁶² Over that time, state corrections spending increased over 220 percent, once adjusting for inflation.⁶³

Many have mistakenly correlated the decline in crime with the increase in incarceration. But studies show that incarceration has long since passed the point where locking up additional prisoners would have a pronounced effect on reducing crime.⁶⁴ A study from the National Academy of Sciences corroborates findings from the Brennan Center: "When the incarceration rate is high, the marginal crime reduction gains from further increases tend to be lower, because the offender on the margin between incarceration and an alternative sanction tends to be less serious. In other words, the crime fighting benefits of incarceration diminish with the scale of the prison population."⁶⁵ Although there is some relationship between increased incarceration and lower crime, at a certain point, locking up additional people is not an effective tool for crime control.

Studies also prove that alternative sanctions hold offenders accountable while more effectively reducing recidivism.

Studies show that incarceration has long since passed the point where locking up additional prisoners would have a pronounced effect on reducing crime. A 2016 Brennan Center report found that 25 percent of prisoners, 364,000 people, who committed lower-level offenses could be better sanctioned by such alternatives. This would save \$11.5 billion annually, about twice as much as the federal government spends on the opioid crisis.⁶⁶

States can pass legislation to eliminate imprisonment for lower-level offenses barring exceptional circumstances. Such crimes include: drug possession, lesser burglary, minor drug trafficking, minor fraud

or forgery, minor theft, and simple assault. Legislation can mandate alternatives to prison — such as treatment, community service, electronic monitoring, or probation — to be the default sentences for these crimes. The legislation should provide flexibility for judges to depart from mandates if certain enumerated factors are present, such as repeat serious offenses or the heinous circumstances of the crime. States can also make these changes retroactive to apply to current prison rolls.

As noted above, Sessions has taken the polar opposite view, arguing that releasing inmates before their maximum time is served will have "long-lasting, harmful consequences" for the country. However, Sessions largely stands alone, an outlier even in his own party. Reducing unnecessary incarceration is even the consensus view among Sessions' fellow conservatives. For instance, several prominent conservative groups — Americans for Tax Reform, the Faith and Freedom Coalition, FreedomWorks, and Right on Crime — wrote to Trump asking for sentencing reform. "Just as we recognize those who pose a danger to society must be behind bars," they

wrote, "for many others such as addicts and those with mental illnesses public safety can best be advanced through treatment-based approaches."⁶⁷ Meanwhile, Republican states have already shown this approach can work. Florida, Mississippi, South Carolina, and Texas have all diverted lower-level offenders to drug treatment programs and reduced both crime and incarceration.⁶⁸

Not only does using prison as a knee-jerk reaction to crime devastate families and communities, but many of today's overly punitive prison sentences produce few public safety benefits. Sentencing individuals convicted of lesser crimes to alternative sanctions would prove more just and equitable, less costly, and more effective at reducing recidivism.

3. Make Sentences Proportional to Crimes

As prison populations have increased, so has the time inmates spend in prison. The 1990s and 2000s saw states of all demographic and political compositions pass laws aimed at keeping people in prison longer. Between 1993 and 2009, the average prison stay for state inmates increased by 33 percent. While the increase in prison stays was most dramatic for violent crimes, prison stays also increased for property and drug crimes.⁶⁹

Research shows that sentence lengths have diminishing returns on crime control, leading several states to successfully enact sentencing reform. The laws that increased time served are not based on evidence showing that longer stays behind bars enhance public safety. Instead, they are based on a collective "guess" that more prison time will reduce crime. Scientific evidence shows just the opposite, however. Longer prison stays often produce higher recidivism rates, or at the very least, result in diminishing returns in enhanced public safety. Many studies indicate that longer prison stays increase the likelihood of reoffending upon release.⁷⁰ Other research finds little to no relationship between

lengths of stay and recidivism.⁷¹ Long sentences often simply hold people in prison until they "age out of crime."⁷² The 2016 Brennan Center report also examined the lengths of time prisoners spent behind bars, and concluded that 14 percent, 212,000 people, had been in prison longer than necessary.

State legislation can cut sentence maximums and minimums defined in criminal statutes and sentencing guidelines so they are more proportional to the crimes committed. Though it is difficult to categorically determine precise optimal sentence lengths, the 2016 report examined several options. It concluded that a 25 percent reduction may be justified for the major crimes making up 58 percent of the prison population: aggravated assault, murder, nonviolent weapons offenses, robbery, serious burglary, and serious drug trafficking.⁷³ This would save almost \$6.6 billion annually and reduce sentences on average by about 15 months. Sentencing laws should similarly be reviewed and likely recalibrated for all crimes, remembering that research shows that sentence lengths have diminishing returns on crime control.

Cutting sentence lengths by 25 percent may appear to many as a radical step. Prominent criminologists have called for sentence lengths to return to 1975 or 1990 levels when sentences were severe. But, to return to 1990 levels, for example, today's average prison stay would need to be cut by almost 40 percent.⁷⁴A 25 percent reduction of the sort proposed here is moderate in comparison.

Many states have seen success with such reforms. In 2008, Mississippi reduced the time-served requirement for minor drug offenses to 25 percent of the original sentence.⁷⁵ Since then, the state's incarceration rate has fallen by 17 percent, while crime fell by 6 percent.⁷⁶ In 2011, the Texas legislature passed a bill allowing drug offenders to reduce their sentence lengths by completing educational programs.⁷⁷ Since 2011, Texas reduced crime by 18 percent with an accompanying 12 percent reduction in the incarceration rate.⁷⁸

This reform would ensure that sanctions for serious crimes involving significant prison time are at levels that deter recidivism while protecting public safety, and achieve significant savings.⁷⁹

4. Cut Imprisonment by 40 Percent

For state candidates, there is a bold step that would reduce state imprisonment rates by 40 percent. How? By ending imprisonment for lower-level crimes (reducing rolls by 25 percent), and cutting prison sentences by 25 percent for other crimes (reducing rolls by an additional 14 percent). Of course, exact results will vary from state to state depending on the composition of its prison population.

As noted, the 2016 Brennan Center report found that 40 percent of the national prison population is incarcerated with little public safety justification. It laid out the first comprehensive plan to safely and significantly cut incarceration, calling on states to mandate alternative sentences for a host of lower-level offenses as well as to reduce sentences for major crimes that account for a majority of the prison population. These recommendations would shrink today's system from 1.46 million prisoners to an estimated 580,000, and would curtail the major drivers of mass incarceration in the future. They would save over \$180 billion over 10 years.⁸⁰ It's the equivalent of hiring 270,000 new police officers, 360,000 probation officers, or sending 2 million young people to college.⁸¹

Many states have already cut their prison population without jeopardizing public safety. Since 2008, 35 states reduced their crime rates and imprisonment rates. Reforms vary from state to state, but typically they prioritize prison space for people who have committed serious offenses, divert lower-level offenders to alternative sanctions, and invest savings in programs that more effectively reduce recidivism and crime.⁸² A plan to cut imprisonment rolls by 40 percent would build on these reforms.

The first principle of 21st century sentencing should be to protect public safety. Current recidivism rates and social science research indicate that today's sentencing practices are failing in their primary task: protecting the public by levying the most effective and cost-efficient sanction to prevent the convicted from committing another crime. This new framework will prioritize community protection over punishment for punishment's sake.



Pass Sensible Marijuana Reform

1. Prevent Federal Interference in State Marijuana Laws

2. Reform State Marijuana Laws

1. Prevent Interference in State Marijuana Laws

Local marijuana laws have changed dramatically in the last decade. States like California, Colorado, and Vermont passed laws or ballot initiatives to legalize marijuana for adult use. Thirty states and the District of Columbia have legalized, decriminalized, or allowed its medical use.⁸³ In the last decade, crime has fallen by 22 percent in these states.⁸⁴

Voter support for legalization has exploded, reaching 64 percent in a Gallup poll last year. And for the first time, a majority of Republicans expressed support.⁸⁵ Research also indicates that marijuana is not as harmful as other drugs. It is on par with alcohol and tobacco use.⁸⁶ Its use has been shown to treat

Every dollar spent enforcing outdated marijuana laws is a dollar not spent combatting opioid use, murders, and serious financial crimes. seizures, pain, and other conditions.87

Yet each year law enforcement makes more than 640,000 marijuana arrests, with almost 90 percent for possession.⁸⁸ Marijuana enforcement has resulted in vast racial disparities. Although marijuana use between black and white Americans is similar, black individuals are four times as likely to be arrested for marijuana possession.⁸⁹ There are an estimated 25,000 people in prison for marijuana offenses, costing \$80 million annually.⁹⁰

And marijuana use is still illegal under federal law. In 2013, Attorney General Eric Holder directed prosecutors to refrain from enforcing federal laws in states where it is legal. But this year, Sessions reversed that order, and made clear his belief that marijuana is dangerous and federal drug policy will prevail.⁹¹ Not only is the Justice Department out of step with the Republican voters who put them there, and the American public generally, but its policies are also fiscally imprudent. Every dollar spent enforcing outdated marijuana laws is a dollar not spent combatting opioid use, murders, and serious financial crimes.

To prevent a showdown between Washington and states, federal policymakers can consider these solutions:

- **Pass the Respect State Marijuana Laws Act:** This legislation would amend federal drug laws to clarify they do not apply to the production, possession, or distribution of marijuana in states where such activity is legal. It would prevent federal officials from prosecuting individuals and businesses in those states. Sixty-seven percent of voters think Congress can take such action.⁹²
- End Imprisonment for Marijuana Crimes: As another step, Congress can pass legislation ensuring that prison is eliminated as a sanction for any marijuana offense at the federal level. These individuals could receive treatment or probation instead, reserving financial resources to fight violent crime.
- Allow More Research on Marijuana: Congress can change marijuana's place on the federal

schedule of controlled substances, which describes how strictly a drug is regulated. Federal law classifies marijuana as a Schedule I drug, meaning it has "no currently accepted medical use" and is more dangerous than cocaine.⁹³ It can be reclassified to a lower level, such as Schedule II or III. This would not affect penalties for marijuana use, but it would open up avenues for medical research.⁹⁴ Though a small step, it paves the way toward more evidence-based policy. Attempts to reschedule marijuana have failed as recently as 2016, but Congress can revisit this issue.⁹⁵ Notably, this action can also be accomplished by a reform-minded attorney general reinstating Holder's order.

2. Reform Marijuana Laws

To help bring state law into line with voter sentiments, state legislators can implement the following solutions:

- End Imprisonment for Marijuana Offenses: Policymakers can introduce legislation that eliminates imprisonment for marijuana offenses. Jail and prison space is expensive, and beds should not be used for those convicted of marijuana offenses. This reform would result in 25,000 people released from prison nationwide.⁹⁶ These individuals can be better served by treatment, probation, or electronic monitoring.
- Decriminalize or Legalize Marijuana: State lawmakers can consider championing efforts to decriminalize (meaning possession remains a criminal act but no longer subject to prosecution) or legalize (meaning personal use is no longer illegal). Organizations including the Drug Policy Alliance and NAACP have endorsed this proposal.⁹⁷ (The Brennan Center takes no position.) Given its dramatic popularity among voters, colliding with the attorney general's renewed war on marijuana, this reform has growing political cachet.



Improve Law Enforcement

- 1. Create a Federal Police Corps
- 2. Pass State Laws Encouraging Police to Divert Individuals to Social Services
- 3. Change Federal Prosecutor Incentives
- 4. Reform State Prosecutor Incentives
- 5. Adopt New Practices for Local Prosecutors

1. Create a Police Corps

Republicans, Democrats, police, and communities of color all acknowledge the need to improve policing. Progressives focus on the strained relationship between police officers and communities of color — the legacy of tragedies in Baltimore, Dallas, Ferguson, and other cities. Conservatives highlight the need to support state and local law enforcement.⁹⁸

Policing is one of the significant criminal justice policies that can affect both crime and incarceration rates. The police make the first determination of whether someone will enter the justice system. This leads to booking, prosecution, and jail.

The federal government has traditionally supported local policing through grant programs and other initiatives. Between 1994 and 2001, the Community Oriented Policing Services program (COPS) provided \$7.3 billion to hire and train 100,000 officers.⁹⁹ The Trump administration's 2019 budget eliminates COPS office funding.¹⁰⁰ COPS has also been criticized for failing to ensure that hired officers actually practiced community policing, in which law enforcement officers are trained and encouraged to build trust with the community.

One powerful way to modernize law enforcement is to provide federal backing for hiring a new generation of police officers. They would be specifically trained in the latest crime prevention techniques, which result in fewer unnecessary arrests and shootings, and less incarceration.

The federal government could launch a "Police Corps" designed to revamp the police force with new officers trained in modern techniques — 20,000 officers each year for five years, for a cost of \$40 billion.¹⁰¹ These officers would be trained to carry out a 21st century policing mission, focusing on preventing and reducing crime, while reducing unnecessary incarceration. They would learn "evidence-based" and community policing practices, and represent diverse cultural and racial backgrounds. For example, officers would be trained to identify individuals with mental health or drug addiction needs and divert them into rehabilitative services or treatment instead of jail. Officers could also be trained in de-escalation techniques, and in how to recognize and combat unconscious bias. The program could select cities to receive officers through a competitive application process and periodically review their effectiveness.

Such an approach could attract widespread support from police chiefs and officers. In its legislative agenda for the 115th Congress, the International Association of Chiefs of Police specifically called for funding for grant programs that enhance law enforcement's ability to effectively reduce crime and build trust with the community.¹⁰² The program could also attract support from activists and civil rights groups calling for widespread police reform.

Building a Police Corps would transform the practices and culture of law enforcement from the inside, while helping secure stronger ties between police and communities, and more effectively focus resources on crime reduction. It would also enlist law enforcement officers as part of the drive for criminal justice reform. The program could help overcome rhetoric that falsely pits law enforcement against reformers and communities, and mark a strong first step toward uniting police and citizens around shared interests.

2. Pass Laws Encouraging Police to Divert Individuals to Social Services

Too many individuals who suffer from drug or mental health issues are captured in the criminal justice system. It is estimated that 79 percent of today's prisoners suffer from either drug addiction or mental illness, with 40 percent suffering from both.¹⁰³ Prisons have become ill-equipped hospitals.

Diversion programs — which reroute individuals away from the standard arrest-detentionincarceration cycle to alternatives such as drug and mental health treatment or social services — are an effective reform. They provide individuals with needed services instead of simple punishment. These services treat the underlying problem, making it less likely the individuals will continue to cycle in and out of prison.

These programs are also supported by law enforcement. Police officers often express frustration that they are required to arrest someone suffering mental health or drug problems because there are no other interventions upon which they can rely other than the criminal justice system. Given the choice, said former Louisiana Police Superintendent, Ronal Serpas, "police officers will choose alternatives to arrest for those who need mental health and drug addiction treatment — not a prison cell."¹⁰⁴

Prisons have become ill-equipped hospitals.

Several police departments have created programs to divert people with drug and mental health problems out of the criminal justice system and into the treatment they need. New York City recently invested \$90 million in two diversion centers that will offer short-term services for those with mental health and substance use needs, providing police officers the ability to bring those they previously would have arrested to

a diversion center. The city estimates that the centers, which opened this year, can divert almost 2,400 lower-level offenders annually.¹⁰⁵

New York borrows its model from a successful experiment in Seattle. In 2011, Seattle instituted the Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion (LEAD) program, which encourages officers to bring lower-level arrestees to treatment or social services, rather than to booking. LEAD allows police officers to direct people suspected of lower-level crimes, particularly drug crimes and prostitution, into community-based treatment instead of arresting and jailing them. In a study of the Seattle LEAD program, participants were found to be 58 percent less likely to be rearrested compared to those arrested and booked.¹⁰⁶

Those running for state office can champion legislation that increases funding for existing or new LEAD-type models. These diversion programs suit everyone: results show they preserve public safety, they're cheaper than prison, they provide offenders the treatment they need, and they reduce recidivism.

3. Change Prosecutor Incentives

Prosecutors are powerful actors. They decide what charge to bring, recommend sentences, and control plea bargaining — a process that determines the resolution of 94 percent of criminal cases.¹⁰⁷

Prosecutors focus almost exclusively on law enforcement rather than considering crime prevention. They tend to think of their report card — especially at election time — in terms of numbers of people prosecuted and length of sentences meted out. U.S. attorneys, for example, receive resources based in part on these metrics.

There is a better way: Prosecutors' incentives can be reoriented toward the twin goals of reducing crime and reducing mass incarceration.

In recent years, many lawmakers, advocates, and researchers have begun to see the role of prosecutors more broadly, and as forces for change. In 2015, a powerful coalition formed with over 200 police chiefs and prosecutors who believe they have a role to play in reducing incarceration. Reform-minded prosecutors were elected in 2016 and 2017 in cities such as Chicago, Dallas, Denver, Philadelphia, Tampa, and St. Louis. Although local officials handle the overwhelming majority of prosecutions, the federal government can lead by example.

Five years ago, then-U.S. Attorney General Holder issued a directive encouraging federal prosecutors to prioritize enforcing violent crimes, and refrain from charging lower-level offenders with crimes carrying mandatory minimum sentences.¹⁰⁸ These efforts contributed to a 12 percent drop in the federal prison population.¹⁰⁹ Similarly, in 2014, Senator Doug Jones (D-Ala.), former U.S. attorney, led a taskforce that recommended that federal prosecutors reform their incentives so that they reduce incarceration and crime together.

In May of 2017, however, Sessions reversed Holder's orders and mandated that all prosecutors in the country's 93 U.S. attorneys' offices seek the harshest charges possible in all federal cases, drawing criticism from conservatives and progressives alike.¹¹⁰ Undoing the previous administration's efforts to realign the incentives of prosecutors risks increasing the federal prison population.

How can lawmakers place federal prosecutors back on course?

Congress can pass legislation providing U.S. attorneys' offices with bonus funds if they reduce unnecessary incarceration, crime, and recidivism in their jurisdictions. This practice has successful similar models in the states. California and Illinois, for example, have offered probation officers incentives to reduce the number of people they send back to prison, achieving a reduction in incarceration and costs, while crime continued to fall.¹¹¹

Alternatively, lawmakers can encourage the Justice Department under a more amenable attorney general to institute these incentives for U.S. attorneys' offices and line prosecutors. Progress could be determined using success measures such as an increase in the proportion of violent and serious

cases on the office docket; the decrease in violent and serious crime in the district; a reduction in the percentage of defendants sentenced to incarceration; or a decrease in the federal prison population attributable to that district. These measures could be modified for line prosecutors and incorporated into the Justice Department's periodic evaluations of U.S. attorneys' offices. These offices could also measure progress toward benchmarks in each individual prosecutor's performance work plans. Lastly, these benchmarks could be considered when making decisions about bonuses and promotions. This reform could cut imprisonment enough to save the government nearly \$12 billion over 10 years — and as much as \$20 billion if applied more robustly.¹¹²

4. Reform Prosecutor Incentives

State policymakers can also take action to modernize local prosecutorial practices. Some options:

- Charge Counties for Use of Prisons: Legislators can hold county prosecutors accountable for their share of the state prison population. States could charge counties some share of the cost of the number of prisoners they house from each county.¹¹³ This cost-shifting would ensure that prosecutors send to prison only those offenders who need to be there. For example, in 2018, Ohio implemented a program assessing penalties on some counties for every lower-level offender they send to prison.¹¹⁴
- **Provide Bonus Dollars to Prosecutor Officers to Reduce Crime and Incarceration:** Alternatively, states can enact legislation that rewards prosecutors' offices when they reduce crime and incarceration together. Measures of success that legislatures could use to track these outcomes include: the percentage decrease in the number of defendants sentenced to prison, and percentage decrease in violent and serious crime in the jurisdiction. Measuring these goals encourages prosecutors to opt, whenever appropriate, for lower charges or incarceration alternatives, while preserving public safety. Similar incentives have been applied to transform probation officers' practices with much success. Illinois, for example, instituted a program in 2009 to provide some counties with additional dollars if they sent 25 percent fewer probationers to prison. The program saved \$47 million over four years and diverted more than 2,000 nonviolent offenders, while cutting recidivism by as much as 20 percent.¹¹⁵

Holding prosecutors accountable for their share of the prison population is novel, and some local prosecutors may balk at such constraints. Yet given increasing public awareness of the prosecutors' vast authority and discretion — and prosecutors' own recognition that they should play a role in reducing incarceration rates — the climate is ripe for such innovative solutions.¹¹⁶

5. Adopt New Practices for Prosecutors

Reform-minded prosecutors have a large role to play in ending mass incarceration. Prosecutors operate with wide discretion, and as a result, have considerable power to reshape criminal justice systems. There are several reforms these new leaders can implement to achieve this goal:

- Use the Bully Pulpit: District attorneys are uniquely positioned to speak out on the need to end the overreliance on incarceration. They are generally considered credible sources about crime fighting by the press, the public, and even judges and law enforcement.
- Hire and Train a New Generation of Prosecutors: Chief prosecutors can prioritize hiring and training line prosecutors who reflect their values and dismiss those not willing to adapt. They can recruit and hire applicants with a more flexible view of sentencing as well as applicants that reflect the diversity of the communities they serve.
- **Change Incentives for Line Prosecutors:** District attorneys' offices often reward line prosecutors on the basis of conviction rates or the lengths of sentences they secure. These criteria earn career advancement as well as respect from colleagues. These rewards can change however, to reflect the changing perspective of the role of a prosecutor, and reward attorneys who prioritize seeking rehabilitation over simply seeking convictions. District attorneys can incentivize prosecutors who take full advantage of diversion or treatment programs for defendants. A 2014 Brennan Center report, *Federal Prosecution for the 21st Century*, lays out a similar proposal for federal prosecutors, which can be adapted for local needs.¹¹⁷
- Decline to Prosecute Minor Offenses: District attorneys can issue office policies indicating that line prosecutors should refrain from prosecuting minor offenses when possible. This will allow prosecutors to prioritize more serious crime and alleviate unnecessary incarceration. For example, in 2017, Houston district attorney Kim Ogg announced that her office would no longer prosecute lower-level marijuana offenses. This saved the county \$25 million and cleared one tenth of its docket in just one year.¹¹⁸ Her reasoning was simple. "We are not a safer society or a safer greater Houston urban area because marijuana was aggressively prosecuted." Similarly, Manhattan district attorney Cy Vance has announced his office will stop prosecuting subway turnstile jumping, which public defenders have complained clogs their dockets.¹¹⁹
- Clear Existing Bench Warrants for Minor Offenses: Longstanding arrest warrants for petty crimes, such as drinking in public or traffic tickets, can drive a wedge between communities and law enforcement. District attorneys can eliminate such warrants for certain lower-level crimes. Four district attorneys in New York City recently took a step in the right direction by collectively eliminating 664,000 10-year-old warrants for petty crimes and misdemeanors.¹²⁰
- **Recommend Proportional Sentences:** Judges retain discretion in setting sentences within the bounds established by, but generally rely on prosecutor recommendations when doing so. District attorneys can issue directives encouraging line prosecutors to recommend lower sentences when appropriate.¹²¹

• **Stop Requesting Cash Bail for Lower-Level Offenses:** District attorneys can do their part to reduce economic inequities by issuing directives to their offices to stop requesting bail for lower-level offenses except in exceptional circumstances. Offices in Philadelphia, Brooklyn, and Manhattan have already taken such action.¹²²



Respond to the Opioid Crisis

1. Advance a Sensible National Response to Opioids

2. Reduce State Opioid Deaths

1. Advance a Sensible National Response to Opioids

According to the most recently available data, more than 40,000 Americans died from an opioid-related overdose in 2016, and the number is still increasing.¹²³ More Americans now die from an opioid overdose than from a traffic accident.¹²⁴

Trafficking of illegal opioids, such as heroin and fentanyl, is part of the problem. But the overprescription of legal opioids, such as oxycodone and codeine, is another. Each year, one-third of American adults receive an opioid prescription.¹²⁵ In one West Virginia town, there were more than 6,000 opioid pills per resident.¹²⁶ As a result, nearly half of all opioid abuse starts with abusing someone else's prescribed pills.¹²⁷

This crisis extends far beyond the Rust Belt. According to the Center for Disease Control, states on or close to the eastern seaboard also suffer high drug overdose rates. West Virginia and Ohio have the highest rate of drug overdose deaths, but New Hampshire, Washington, D.C., and Pennsylvania trail close behind. Border states like California and Texas have the fewest.¹²⁸

In response, Trump created a commission to study the crisis,¹²⁹ and declared a national emergency in October 2017.¹³⁰ But federal policy has changed little since then.¹³¹ February's bipartisan budget deal earmarked \$6 billion for treatment for opioid addiction,¹³² but that amount is insufficient to

The opioid crisis is not a problem we can incarcerate our way out of. Returning to outdated drug war policies will not help. provide treatment to all those suffering.¹³³ Additionally, the president insists that his promised "border wall" with Mexico will somehow stop opioid deaths,¹³⁴ and the administration launched a public "war on opioids" last month.¹³⁵

Sessions has similarly prioritized enforcement, establishing a new Drug Enforcement Agency division in Kentucky to combat opioid abuse,¹³⁶ and pledging to increase criminal penalties for artificial opioids to match those of naturally

occurring ones.¹³⁷ But this is not a problem we can incarcerate our way out of. Returning to outdated drug war policies will not help.

Federal lawmakers can curb the devastating effects of opioid abuse — without relying on mass incarceration. Options include:

• **Decreasing Opioid Supply:** Contrary to Trump's claims, the work of stopping the flow of opioid overdose drugs does not start with a border wall.¹³⁸ It starts at home. One way to decrease supply: a tax on opioid production. By levying a small tax per pill, the government could incentivize manufacturers to slow the number of pills entering legal and grey markets. Such taxes have been levied on tobacco and alcohol.¹³⁹ Sen. Joe Manchin (D-W.Va.)'s Budgeting for Opioid Addiction Treatment Act would institute a tax on pharmaceutical companies that manufacture opioids.¹⁴⁰

• Expand Prevention and Treatment Programs:

- The federal government can support key funding initiatives to help states pay for prevention and treatment. The Combating the Opioid Epidemic Act, sponsored by Sen. Bob Casey (D-Pa.),¹⁴¹ for example, would give states \$45 billion over 10 years to fund such programs.¹⁴²
- Lack of insurance and cost are two major barriers to effective substance abuse treatment. Thirty-one percent of people who needed, but did not receive, treatment for substance abuse cited cost or lack of insurance as the reason.¹⁴³ One solution is to expand Medication Assisted Treatment (MAT), which pairs medical treatment with behavioral and psychological therapy.¹⁴⁴ MAT has been called "the gold standard" for addiction treatment.¹⁴⁵ But it is not widely used, as most people can't afford it.¹⁴⁶ While all states provide Medicaid coverage for some MAT options, some states do not cover all needed options.¹⁴⁷ Congress can help by requiring Medicaid to cover all types of MAT, allowing patients access to the most effective drug treatment for their unique needs. The president's 2019 fiscal budget proposes this very solution.¹⁴⁸ Researchers and medical advocates, including the Kaiser Family Foundation, have supported this proposal to address opioid abuse.¹⁴⁹
- Lawmakers can resist cuts to social safety net programs that fund treatment. Full repeal of the Affordable Care Act, for example, would jeopardize Medicaid funding, tripling the uninsured rates in states such as Kentucky, New Hampshire, and West Virginia all places with above-average overdose rates.¹⁵⁰ Groups such as the Drug Policy Alliance and Kaiser Family Foundation have noted that restricting the availability of health care could worsen the opioid crisis.¹⁵¹
- Focus Prosecution Resources on Traffickers and Abusive Marketers: There is a growing consensus shared by the president's opioid commission that effective drug enforcement focuses on reducing the supply of drugs, rather than penalizing users and small-time dealers.¹⁵² Toward that end, Congress can use its oversight power to encourage the Justice Department to focus enforcement resources on major traffickers and companies flouting drug manufacturing regulations.¹⁵³ Sessions recently announced a task force to target opioid manufacturers and distributors, one step in the right direction.¹⁵⁴

2. Reduce Opioid Deaths

The day-to-day work of combating opioid addiction falls on state and local governments. Officials can consider the following options as a start:

- **Regulate Prescription Opioids:** Preliminary research finds a correlation between the rate of opioid prescriptions and the rate of overdose deaths in states.¹⁵⁵ Among other things, overprescription leads to pills entering the grey market, helping fuel other peoples' addictions.¹⁵⁶ Some states have addressed this problem by placing limits on when and how doctors can prescribe opioids for pain management. In 2017, New Jersey passed a bipartisan bill that requires doctors to limit initial opioid prescriptions to five days' worth of pills, down from 30 days.¹⁵⁷ Similarly, starting in 2017, Delaware capped initial opioid prescriptions at a seven-day supply.¹⁵⁸
- Expand Prevention and Treatment Programs: States can also increase funding for prevention and treatment. One way states can do so is by opting into the federal Medicaid expansion, as allowed by the Affordable Care Act. The federal insurance program Medicaid does not, on its own, cover impoverished childless adults. But under the Affordable Care Act,, states can pass legislation to accept federal dollars and standards of care, and use it to provide health care for this group through Medicaid.¹⁵⁹ Kentucky made this change in 2014, with dramatic results. In 2013 more than a quarter of people admitted to the hospital for an opioid overdose were uninsured. By 2015, just one year after the change, under 3 percent of admitted opioid patients lacked insurance.¹⁶⁰ Most northeastern states, including high-overdose states like New Hampshire and Vermont, have already acted to similarly expand Medicaid. But eight states with above average opioid death rates have not. Those states include Florida, North Carolina, and Tennessee.¹⁶¹ Lawmakers in these states can pass legislation to expand Medicare. This solution is backed by groups including the Center for Budget & Policy Priorities to address opioid abuse.¹⁶²
- **Provide Treatment Instead of Incarceration for Opioid Use:** Many worry that the "war on opioids" rhetoric used by the Administration and other public officials will lead to more generations of drug users imprisoned instead of helped. Incarcerating people struggling with addiction does nothing to cure the underlying problems. States can divert individuals struggling with opioid addiction to treatment instead of prison.¹⁶³



Reduce Female Incarceration

1. Pass the Federal Dignity for Incarcerated Women Act

2. Curb the Number of Women Entering State Prisons

1. Pass the Dignity for Incarcerated Women Act

For the last 40 years, the incarceration growth rate for women has been double that of men. While the U.S. population has less than five percent of the world's women, it is now home to one-third of the world's incarcerated women.¹⁶⁴ The total prison population has declined by four percent since 2012, but the number of female prisoners has actually risen two percent.¹⁶⁵ Today, there are 1.2 million women behind bars, or on probation or parole.

The majority of women (52 percent) are incarcerated for a drug or a property offense. Most have suffered some form of trauma, such as domestic or sexual violence, and many suffer from drug addiction or mental illness.¹⁶⁶ And an estimated one in four women are pregnant or have a child under the age of 1 when they enter prison.¹⁶⁷

But our prisons are not equipped to provide the treatment and services that many women need. In fact, to some extent, women remain an afterthought when it comes to corrections.

New efforts seek to change this oversight. The best solution would focus on reducing the number of women incarcerated. Earlier proposals in this report such as passing the Reverse Mass Incarceration Act and the Sentencing Reform and Corrections Act would help accomplish that goal.

Other reforms would assist women while incarcerated. Last summer, Sens. Elizabeth Warren (D-Mass.) and Corey Booker (D-N.J.) introduced the Dignity for Incarcerated Women Act.¹⁶⁸ The legislation would expand visitation policies for mothers, eliminate shackling and solitary confinement for pregnant women, and provide free feminine health care items, including tampons and pads.

Research has shown that maintenance of family relationships during incarceration helps lower the risk of recidivism. Additionally, preserving the mother-child relationship has been shown to have rehabilitative effects, including better outcomes for economic independence and lowered recidivism rates.¹⁶⁹

The Dignity for Incarcerated Women Act would vastly improve the day-to-day experience of women behind bars, and would likely lower recidivism.

2. Curb the Number of Women Entering Prison

While some states have started to reduce the number of men behind bars, these very same states are seeing an increase in incarcerated women. Michigan, for example, reduced its male prisoners by 8 percent between 2009 and 2015, yet it incarcerated 30 percent more women.¹⁷⁰ During this same period, more women than men were added to prison rolls in North Carolina, Ohio, Tennessee, and Virginia, causing overall state prison populations to swell by between 52 and 97 percent.¹⁷¹

States are beginning to recognize the societal consequences of incarcerating women and are taking action to address this. In 2010, Oklahoma passed legislation authorizing diversion programs to keep mothers of minor children on probation in lieu of prison.¹⁷² Another Oklahoma program called Women in Recovery authorizes courts to assign women with drug-related offenses to treatment programs and child care services. The latter program had a recidivism rate of 3.5 percent compared to a 13 percent rate for imprisoned women in the state.¹⁷³ In 2015, Oregon, passed the Family Sentencing Alternative Pilot Program, authorizing judges to replace prison sentences with probation and community service for parents convicted of nonviolent crimes.

States can enact legislation authorizing courts to assign female defendants who have committed lower-level crimes to treatment programs and social services that help women address the drivers that landed them in the criminal justice system. Diverting women from prison and keeping families together can save money and break the intergenerational cycle of incarceration.

Endnotes

- 1 Michelle Ye Hee Lee, "Does The United States Really Have 5 Percent Of The World's Population And One Quarter Of The World's Prisoners?," *The Washington Post*, April 30, 2015, https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/fact-checker/wp/2015/04/30/does-the-united-states-really-have-five-percent-of-worldspopulation-and-one-quarter-of-the-worlds-prisoners/. The article notes that the most recent data have the United States containing 4.4 percent of the global population, and 22 percent of global prisoners.
- 2 Danielle Kaeble and Lauren Glaze, *Correctional Populations in 2015*, U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2017 https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/p15.pdf.
- 3 Robert DeFine and Lance Hannon, "The Impact of Mass Incarceration on Poverty," Crime & Delinquency 59, 2013, 581, http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0011128708328864. The authors indicate that had incarceration not exploded to current levels, the poverty rate would be more than 20 percent lower, or about 2.8 percentage points lower.
- 4 Associated Press, "At \$75,560, housing a prisoner in California now costs more than a year at Harvard," *Los Angeles Times*, June 4, 2017, http://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-prison-costs-20170604-html-story.html.
- 5 Council of Economic Advisers, Executive Office of the President of the United States, *Economic Perspectives on Incarceration and the Criminal Justice System*, 2016, 43, https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/ sites/default/files/page/files/20160423_cea_incarceration_criminal_justice.pdf.
- 6 James Austin and Lauren-Brooke Eisen, *How Many Americans Are Unnecessarily Incarcerated?*, Brennan Center for Justice, 2016, https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/publications/Unnecessari-ly_Incarcerated_0.pdf.
- 7 Lauren-Brooke Eisen and James Cullen, *Update: Changes in State Imprisonment*, June, 2017, https:// www.brennancenter.org/press-release/new-analysis-states-lowered-crime-and-incarceration-rates-simultaneously.
- 8 Law Enforcement Leaders to Reduce Crime and Incarceration, "Letter to President Trump and Jeff Sessions, Re: Law Enforcement Leaders Recommendations to the Administration," October 18, 2017, http://lawenforcementleaders.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Law-Enforcement-Letter-to-President-Trump-and-Attorney-General-Sessions.pdf.
- 9 Vikrant Reddy, "The Conservative Base Wants Criminal Justice Reform," National Review Online, May 8, 2017, http://www.nationalreview.com/article/447398/criminal-justice-reform-donald-trump-supporters-conservative-base-want-fresh; Charles Koch Institute, "New Poll Suggests Surprising Support for Criminal Justice Reforms Among Trump Voters," April 26, 2017, https://www.charleskochinstitute.org/ news/new-poll-suggests-surprising-support-criminal-justice-reforms-among-trump-voters/.
- 10 Justice Action Network, "Poll: Michigan voters strongly favor state prison reform," October 13, 2015, http://www.justiceactionnetwork.org/poll-michigan-voters-strongly-favor-state-prison-reform/; Robert Blizzard, "Key Findings from a National Survey of 800 Registered Voters," Justice Action Network,

January, 2018, http://www.justiceactionnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/JAN-Poll-PPT-Jan25.2018.pdf.

- 11 Benenson Strategy Group, ACLU National Survey, American Civil Liberties Union, October 2017, https://www.aclu.org/report/smart-justice-campaign-polling-americans-attitudes-criminal-justice; American Civil Liberties Union, "91 Percent of Americans Support Criminal Justice Reform, ACLU Polling Finds," November, 2017, https://www.aclu.org/news/91-percent-americans-support-criminal-justice-reform-aclu-polling-finds.
- 12 President Donald J. Trump, "Remarks in Roundtable with County Sheriffs," Washington, D.C., February 7, 2017, https://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2017/02/07/remarks-president-trump-roundtable-county-sheriffs.
- 13 President Donald J. Trump, "Inaugural Address," January 20, 2017, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/the-inaugural-address/.
- 14 Ames Grawert and James Cullen, *Crime in 2017: Updated Analysis*, Brennan Center for Justice, 2017, https://www.brennancenter.org/analysis/crime-2017-updated-analysis.
- 15 Data through 2014 were taken from "State-by-state and national crime estimates by year(s)," Federal Bureau of Investigation, 2018, last accessed March 2, 2018, https://www.ucrdatatool.gov/Search/ Crime/State/StatebyState.cfm?NoVariables=Y&CFID=158243432&CFTOKEN=94df4da126bd13a5-7976852D-EE22-FE30-3EDFDF2B454FAEB2. Data for 2016 were taken from U.S. Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigation, 2016 Crime in the United States, 2017, tbl. 6, https:// ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2016/crime-in-the-u.s.-2016/topic-pages/tables/table-1.
- 16 E. Ann Carson, *Prisoners in 2016*, United States Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2018, tbl. 2, https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/p16.pdf.
- 17 Reverse Mass Incarceration Act of 2017, H.R. 3845, 115th Cong. (2017) and Reverse Mass Incarceration Act of 2017, S. 1458, 115th Cong. (2017).
- 18 James Austin and Lauren-Brooke Eisen, *How Many Americans Are Unnecessarily Incarcerated*?, Brennan Center for Justice, 2016, 7, https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/publications/Unnecessarily_Incarcerated_0.pdf.
- 19 Ibid.
- 20 Ibid.
- 21 Abigail Geiger, "About six-in-ten Americans support marijuana legalization," Pew Research Center, January 5, 2018, http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2018/01/05/americans-support-marijuana-legalization/.

- 22 "State Marijuana Laws in 2018 Map," Governing: the States and Localities, last accessed January 31, 2018, http://www.governing.com/gov-data/state-marijuana-laws-map-medical-recreational.html.
- 23 "Drug Scheduling," Drug Enforcement Agency, last accessed March 2, 2018, https://www.dea.gov/druginfo/ds.shtml.
- 24 Eric Gonzalez and Miriam Krinsky, "How a New Generation of Prosecutors is Driving Criminal Justice Reform Outside of Congress," The Hill, February 26, 2018, http://thehill.com/blogs/congress-blog/ judicial/375656-how-a-new-generation-of-prosecutors-is-driving-criminal-justice; "Law Enforcement Leaders to Reduce Crime and Incarceration," last modified March 12, 2018, accessed March 12, 2018, http://lawenforcementleaders.org/.
- 25 Nadia Kounang, "US Drug Overdose Deaths Reach New Record High," CNN, August 8, 2017, https:// www.cnn.com/2017/08/08/health/drug-overdose-rates-2016-study/index.html.
- 26 Bruce Schreiner, "Senate OKs Bill To Steer More Pregnant Inmates Into Rehab," *Chicago Tribune*, March 6, 2018, http://www.chicagotribune.com/lifestyles/health/sns-bc-ky-xgr--pregnant-inmates-20180306-story. html.
- 27 Brennan Center for Justice, Federal Criminal Justice Grants (unpublished, 2016). The authors are currently updating this report for future publication
- Specifically, the bill authorized \$10.44 billion in "Violent Offender Incarceration" and "Truth in Sentencing" grants, and \$1.915 billion in "State Criminal Alien Assistance Program" grants. All grant funds reimbursed the cost of or directly paid for correctional or detention facility maintenance or construction. See Susan Turner et al., *National Evaluation of the Violent Offender Incarceration/Truth-in-Sentencing Incentive Grant Program 32*, 45, Appendix D 8 (RAND Corp. 2001) (citing 42 U.S.C.A. § 13708 (1996)) (providing Truth in Sentencing and Violent Offender Incarceration authorization for FY 1995-2000 and State Criminal Alien Assistance authorizations for FY 1995-1999); Nancy E. Gist, Bureau of Justice Assistance, *FY 2000 State Criminal Alien Assistance Program* (2000) ("For FY 2000, \$585 million has been made available for this program"). According to RAND, the act provided funds to "construct, develop, expand, modify, operate, or improve correctional facilities."
- 29 United States General Accountability Office, Report to Congressional Requesters, *Truth in Sentencing: Availability of Federal Grants Influenced Laws in Some States*, GAO-GGD-98-42, 6, https://www.gao.gov/assets/230/225212.pdf, detailing the date of passage of truth-in-sentencing laws in states that received federal grants in fiscal year 1997; Paula M. Ditton and Doris James Wilson, *Truth in Sentencing in State Prisons, Bureau of Justice Statistics*, 1999, 2, showing that as of January 1999, 29 states had laws meeting the federal truth-in-sentencing requirement.
- 30 E. Ann Carson, *Prisoners in 2016, Bureau of Justice Statistics, U.S. Department of Justice*, 2018, 4, https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/p16.pdf.
- 31 Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority, "2014 Annual Report", 2015, 16, http://www.icjia. state.il.us/assets/pdf/AnnualReport/AnnualReportFY14.pdf.

- 32 Reverse Mass Incarceration Act of 2017, H.R. 3845, 115th Cong. (2017) and Reverse Mass Incarceration Act of 2017, S. 1458, 115th Cong. (2017).
- 33 "Letter from Brennan Center for Justice et al. to Attorney General Eric Holder," last modified December 19, 2013, https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/publications/Letter%20of%20Support.pdf; "Letter from Mark A. Levin, Director, Center for Effective Justice, Texas Public Policy Institute, to Denise O'Donnell, Director, Bureau of Justice Assistance," last modified December 20, 2013, https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/publications/Marc%20Levin%20Letter%20of%20Support.pdf; "Letter from Eli Lehrer, President, R Street Institute, to Attorney General Eric Holder," last modified January 28, 2014, https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/publications/Eli%20Lehrer%20 Letter.pdf.
- 34 Lauren-Brooke Eisen and James Cullen, *Update: Changes in State Imprisonment*, June, 2017, https:// www.brennancenter.org/press-release/new-analysis-states-lowered-crime-and-incarceration-rates-simultaneously.
- 35 Lauren-Brooke Eisen and James Cullen, *Update: Changes in State Imprisonment*, Brennan Center for Justice, 2016, 1, https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/analysis/UpdateChangesinStateImprisonment.pdf.
- 36 A 20 percent decrease in the national prisoner population would be 301,000 people. Each prisoner costs on average \$32,000 a year, according to Brennan Center estimates based on federal register data and applying BLS inflation rates. Multiplying these two gives \$9.7 billion in savings per year, at \$97 billion over 10 years. "Annual Determination of Average Cost of Incarceration," last modified May 12, 2014, accessed March 9, 2018, https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2014/05/12/2014-10859/annu-al-determination-of-average-cost-of-incarceration. E.; Ann Carson, *Prisoners in 2016*, Bureau of Justice Statistics, U.S. Department of Justice, 2018, 4, https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/p16.pdf. "Databases, Table & Calculators by Subject," last modified March 9, 2018, accessed March 9, 2018, https://data.bls.gov/timeseries/CUUR0000SA0L1E?output_view=pct_12mths.
- 37 Peter Wagner and Bernadette Rabuy, *Mass Incarceration: The Whole Pie 2017*, Prison Policy Initiative, 2017, https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/pie2017.html.
- 38 Christopher T. Lowenkamp, Marie VanNostrand and Alexander Holsinger, *Investigating the Impact of Pretrial Detention on Sentencing Outcomes*, Laura and John Arnold Foundation, 2013, 10, http://www.arnoldfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/LJAF_Report_state-sentencing_FNL.pdf.
- 39 Juleyka Lantigua-Williams, "Why Poor, Low-Level Offenders Often Plead to Worse Crimes," *The Atlantic*, July 24, 2016, https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2016/07/why-pretrial-jail-can-meanpleading-to-worse-crimes/491975/.
- 40 Sarah Picard-Fritsche et. al, *Demystifying Risk Assessment*, Center for Court Innovation, 2017, https://university.pretrial.org/viewdocument/demystifying-risk-assessment-key-p.
- 41 New Jersey Judiciary, *Criminal Justice Reform Report to the Governor and the Legislature for Calendar Year* 2017, 2018, 4; https://www.judiciary.state.nj.us/courts/assets/criminal/2017cjrannual.pdf.

- 42 Jason Tashea, "Kentucky tests new assessment tool to determine whether to keep defendants behind bars," *ABA Journal*, April, 2015, http://www.abajournal.com/magazine/article/kentucky_tests_new_assessment_tool_to_determine_whether_to_keep_defendants.
- 43 James T. McCafferty, "Unjust Disparities? The Impact of Race on Juvenile Risk Assessment Outcomes," *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, February 26, 2016, 25, http://cjp.sagepub.com/content/early/2016/02/25/0887403416634163.abstract.
- Fines are prescribed by courts as a punishment for committing a crime. Defendants face other sanctions, most that are faced by defendants, most commonly flat fees intended to offset court costs. Unlike fines, "fees" do not scale according to the severity of the crime, meaning that individuals charged with relatively minor crimes can still end up with onerous debt. Throughout this section "fines" will be used as shorthand to refer to all court-ordered financial sanctions, including both fines and fees.
- 45 Rebekah Diller, *The Hidden Costs of Florida's Criminal Justice Fees*, New York: Brennan Center for Justice, 2010, https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/legacy/Justice/FloridaF&F.pdf?nocdn=1
- 46 Alicia Bannon, Mitali Nagrecha, and Rebekah Diller, *Criminal Justice Debt: A Barrier to Reentry* (New York: Brennan Center for Justice, 2010), http://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/legacy/ Fees%20and%20Fines%20FINAL.pdf.
- 47 Beth A. Colgan, "Graduating Economic Sanctions According to Ability to Pay," *Iowa Law Review 103* (2017): 56, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3080756.
- 48 Beth A. Colgan, "Graduating Economic Sanctions According to Ability to Pay," Iowa Law Review 103 (2017): 65-73, https://papers.srn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3080756.
- 49 Colgan, "Graduating Economic Sanctions According to Ability to Pay", 59.
- 50 Colgan, "Graduating Economic Sanctions According to Ability to Pay", 61.
- 51 For the details of how fines are calculated in Finland, see "Change in Solvency and the Day Fine System - Oikeus.Fi / Syyttäjälaitos," accessed March 12, 2018, https://oikeus.fi/syyttaja/en/index/asioiminensyyttajankanssa/summaryfineprocedure/changeinsolvencyandthedayfinesystem.html.
- 52 Michael Mukasey and Ronal Serpas, "Federal Sentencing Reform Will Aid Law Enforcement", The Hill, February 29, 2016, http://thehill.com/opinion/op-ed/271212-federal-sentencing-reform-will-aid-lawenforcement; "Corrections Statistical Analysis Tool (CSAT) – Prisoners, Quick Tables," Last updated 2018, last accessed March 10, 2018, https://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=nps.
- 53 Nathan James, *The Bureau of Prisons (BOP): Operations and Budget, Congressional Research Service, 2014*, https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R42486.pdf. This reports an inflation-adjusted figure of 1 billion dollars in spending for the BOP; Department of Justice, "Federal Prison System: 2017 Budget Request At a Glance", 2017. Reports BOP spending of 7.3 Billion, a 630% increase.

- 54 Department of Justice, Statement of Charles E. Samuels, Jr., director, Federal Bureau Of Prisons, "Oversight of The Bureau of Prisons: First-Hand Accounts of Challenges Facing The Federal Prison System," August 4, 2015.
- 55 U.S. Department of Justice, FY 2018 Performance Budget, 4, https://www.justice.gov/file/968981/down-load; "Top Management and Performance Challenges Facing the Department of Justice 2017," to the Attorney General and Deputy Attorney General from Michael E. Horowitz, October 16, 2017, III-13, https://oig.justice.gov/challenges/2017.pdf.
- 56 "Amid Growing Support, Judiciary Committee Advances Sentencing Reform and Corrections Act," 2016, https://www.grassley.senate.gov/news/news-releases/amid-growing-support-judiciary-committee-advances-sentencing-reform-and; Law Enforcement Leaders to Reduce Crime and Incarceration to Congressional Leadership, "Letter of Support on the Sentencing Reform and Corrections Act," January 19, 2016, http:// lawenforcementleaders.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Law-Enforcement-Leaders-SCRA-Letter-of-Support.pdf.; Taylor Dolven, "Jared Kushner's prison reforms hit a brick wall called Jeff Sessions," Vice News, January 17, 2018, https://news.vice.com/en_us/article/wjpkey/jared-kushners-prison-reforms-hit-a-brickwall-called-jeff-sessions.
- 57 Attorney General Jeff Sessions, "Memorandum for All Federal Prosecutors," May 10, 2017, https://www. justice.gov/opa/press-release/file/965896/download.
- 58 Dannel Malloy, "Making Our Justice System More Equitable, Humane and Efficient," *The Washington Times*, October 10, 2016, http://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2016/oct/10/making-our-justice-system-more-equitable-humane-an/; ACLU, *Smart Reform is Possible: States Reducing Incarceration Rates and Costs while Protecting Communities*, 36, 47-49, 2011, https://www.aclu.org/files/assets/smartreformispossible.pdf.
- 59 Lauren-Brooke Eisen and James Cullen, Update: Changes in State Imprisonment, Brennan Center for Justice, 2016, https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/analysis/UpdateChangesinStateImprisonment.pdf.
- 60 Bruce Western, *Punishment and Inequality in America*, New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 2006, 161.
- 61 Lynne M. Vieraitis, Tomislav V. Kovandzic and Thomas B. Marvell, "The Criminogenic Effects of Imprisonment: Evidence from State Panel Data, 1974–2002," *Criminology & Public Policy 6* (2007): 589, 593.
- 62 For 1970, see United States Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics, *Historical Statistics on Prisoners in State and Federal Institutions*, Yearend 1925-1986, 1997, https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/hsps-fiy2586.pdf. For 2016, see E. Ann Carson, *Prisoners in 2016*, U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2018, http://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=pbdetail&iid=6187.
- 63 Note that "corrections spending" includes spending on prisons, jails, and other justice programs including probation and parole. For 1978 spending data, see U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics, *Expenditure and Employment Data for the Criminal Justice System*, 1978, 1981, https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/eedcjs78.pdf. For 2016 data, see The National Association of State Budget Officers, *State*

Expenditure Report: Fiscal Year 2016, 2017, https://www.nasbo.org/mainsite/reports-data/state-expenditure-report.

For inflation data see "CPI Inflation Calculator," Bureau of Labor Statistics, last updated January 2018, last accessed March 11, 2018, https://data.bls.gov/cgi-bin/cpicalc.pl?cost1=7.5&year1=197801&-year2=201601.

- 64 Steven Raphael and Michael Stoll, "A New Approach to Reducing Incarceration While Maintaining Low Rates of Crime," The Hamilton Project, 2005, 9-12, http://www.hamiltonproject.org/assets/legacy/files/ downloads_and_links/v5_THP_RaphaelStoll_DiscPaper.pdf.
- 65 National Research Council, *The Growth of Incarceration in the United States: Exploring Causes and Consequences*, eds. Jeremy Travis, Bruce Western, and Steve Redburn, Washington D.C., The National Academies Press, 2014, 138; Raphael and Stoll, A New Approach, 9. See also Oliver Roeder, Lauren-Brooke Eisen, and Julia Bowling, *What Caused the Crime Decline?*, Brennan Center for Justice, 2015, https:// www.brennancenter.org/publication/what-caused-crime-decline.
- 66 Lauren-Brooke Eisen et al., *How Many Americans Are Unnecessarily Incarcerated?*, Brennan Center for Justice, 2016, 44, https://www.brennancenter.org/publication/how-many-americans-are-unnecessarily-incarcerated.
- 67 "Letter from U.S. Justice Action Network to President-Elect Donald J. Trump," November 18, 2016, https://www.scribd.com/document/331960698/USJAN-Partners-Letter-to-Trump-Final2.
- 68 James Austin and Lauren-Brooke Eisen, How Many Americans Are Unnecessarily Incarcerated?, Brennan Center for Justice, 2016, https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/publications/Unnecessarily_Incarcerated_0.pdf.
- 69 *Time Served: The High Cost, Low Return of Longer Prison Terms*, PEW Center on the States, 2012, http:// www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/legacy/uploadedfiles/wwwpewtrustsorg/reports/sentencing_and_corrections/prisontimeservedpdf.pdf, analyzing the growth in prison stays at state levels. "Length of stay" is commonly used to describe the amount of time a person actually spends in prison, which often differs from the person's sentence length because low-risk inmates can frequently earn release before serving their full sentences.
- 70 See Joan Petersilia and Susan Turner, Prison versus Probation in California: Implications for Crime and Offender Recidivism, Rand Corp., 1986, 7-8, https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/reports/2007/ R3323.pdf, noting that prison markedly increased recidivism for persons convicted of property crimes; Gerald G. Gaes and Scott D. Camp, "Unintended Consequences: Experimental Evidence for the Criminogenic Effect of Prison Security Level Placement on Post-Release Recidivism," 5, Journal of Experimental Criminology, 2009, 139, http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11292-009-9070-z; Daniel S. Nagin and G. Matthew Snodgrass, "The Effect of Incarceration on Re-Offending: Evidence from a Natural Experiment in Pennsylvania," 29, Journal of Quantitative Criminology, 2012, 601, 642.
- 71 Francis T. Cullen, Cheryl Lero Jonson and Daniel S. Nagin, "Prisons Do Not Reduce Recidivism: The High Cost of Ignoring Science," 91, *The Prison Journal*, 2011

- 72 See Steven D. Levitt, "The Limited Role of Changing Age Structure in Explaining Aggregate Crime Rates," 37, *Criminology*, 1999, 581, 592.
- 73 Lauren-Brooke Eisen, James Austin, and James Cullen, *How Many Americans are Unnecessarily Incarcerated?*, Brennan Center for Justice, 2016, 8, https://www.brennancenter.org/publication/how-many-americans-are-unnecessarily-incarcerated.
- 74 Erica Goode, "Average Prison Stay Grew 36 Percent in Two Decades," *The New York Times*, June 6, 2012, http://www.nytimes.com/2012/06/06/us/average-prison-stay-grew-36-percent-in-two-decades.html?_r=1.
- 75 S.B. 2136, Reg. Sess. (Miss. 2008), http://billstatus.ls.state.ms.us/documents/2008/html/SB/2100-2199/ SB2136CS.htm.
- 76 "Corrections Statistical Analysis Tool (CSAT) Prisoners," Bureau of Justice Statistics, http://www.bjs. gov/index.cfm?ty=nps; "Crime in the United States by State, 2016," FBI: Uniform Crime Reporting, https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2016/crime-in-the-u.s.-2016/tables/table-3; "Crime in the United States by State, 2008," FBI: UCR, https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2008.
- 77 H.B. 1205, 82d Leg. (Tex. 2011); H.B. 2649, 82d Leg. (Tex. 2011); see also Lauren-Brooke Eisen and Juliene James, *Reallocating Justice Resources: A Review of 2011 State Sentencing Trends*, Vera Institute of Justice, 2012, 26, https://www.vera.org/publications/reallocating-justice-resources-a-review-of-2011-state-sentencing-trends, surveying Texas house bills on earned credit programs.
- 78 "Corrections Statistical Analysis Tool (CSAT) Prisoners," Bureau of Justice Statistics, http://www.bjs. gov/index.cfm?ty=nps; "Crime in the United States by State, 2016," FBI: UCR. https://ucr.fbi.gov/ crime-in-the-u.s/2016/crime-in-the-u.s.-2016/tables/table-3; "Crime in the United States by State, 2011." FBI: UCR. https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2011/crime-in-the-u.s.-2011/tables/table-5
- 79 Lauren-Brooke Eisen, James Austin, and James Cullen, *How Many Americans are Unnecessarily Incarcerated?*, Brennan Center for Justice, 2016, 39, https://www.brennancenter.org/publication/how-many-americans-are-unnecessarily-incarcerated.
- 80 To calculate savings, the authors multiplied the average cost of one year of imprisonment (\$31,286), as calculated in Christian Henrichson and Ruth Delaney, *The Price of Prisons: What Incarceration costs Taxpayers*, VERA Institute of Justice, 2012, 9, https://storage.googleapis.com/vera-web-assets/downloads/Publications/price-of-prisons-what-incarceration-costs-taxpayers/legacy_downloads/price-of-prisons-up-dated-version-021914.pdf, by the number of people who would not be incarcerated if the proposed reductions were fully implemented. The authors would prefer to base calculations on long-term marginal costs of incarceration, but these costs were difficult to identify, due to a lack of data.
- 81 The number of probation officers who could be employed is calculated using the median salary for probation officers, as reported by BLS in 2015 (\$49,360), adjusted for inflation. "Occupational Outlook Handbook: Probation Officers and Correctional Treatment Specialists," Bureau of Labor Statistics, http://www.bls.gov/ooh/community-and-social-service/probation-officers-and-correctional-treat-

ment-specialists.htm; "Consumer Price Index Inflation Calculator," Bureau of Labor Statistics, http:// www.bls.gov/data/inflation_calculator.htm.

- 82 Adam Gelb and Jacob Denney, "National Prison Rate Continues to Decline Amid Sentencing, Re-Entry Reforms," The Pew Charitable Trusts, http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/analysis/2018/01/16/national-prison-rate-continues-to-decline-amid-sentencing-re-entry-reforms.
- 83 "State Marijuana Laws in 2018 Map," Governing the States and Localities, http://www.governing.com/ gov-data/state-marijuana-laws-map-medical-recreational.html.
- 84 U.S. Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigation, *Crime in the United States*, 2008, Washington, D.C., 2009, tbl. 2, https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2008. For 2016 Oregon crime data, see U.S. Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigation, *Crime in the United States*, 2016, Washington, D.C., 2017, tbl. 2, https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2016/crime-in-the-u.s.-2016/topic-pages/tables/ table-2.
- 85 Justin McCarthy, "Record-High Support for Legalizing Marijuana Use in U.S.," GALLUP News, October 25, 2017, http://news.gallup.com/poll/221018/record-high-support-legalizing-marijuana.aspx.
- 86 Dirk W. Lachenmeier and Jürgen Rehm, "Comparative Risk Assessment of Alcohol, Tobacco, Cannabis and Other Illicit Drugs Using the Margin of Exposure Approach," *Scientific Reports*, 5, 2015, doi:10.1038/srep08126.
- 87 David Noonan, "Marijuana Treatment Reduces Severe Epileptic Seizures," *Scientific American*, May 25, 2017, https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/marijuana-treatment-reduces-severe-epileptic-seizures/; Mary E. Lynch and Fiona Campbell, "Cannibinoids for treatment of chronic non-cancer pain; a system-atic review of randomized trials," British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 72 (2011): 735-44, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3243008/.
- 88 "Crime in the United States, 2015," FBI: UCR, 2016, https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2015/crime-in-the-u.s.-2015/persons-arrested/persons-arrested.
- 89 The War on Marijuana in Black and White, ACLU, 2013, www.aclu.org/report/report/report-war-marijuana-black-and-white?redirect; Every 25 Seconds: The Human Toll of Criminalizing Drug Use in the United States, Human Rights Watch, 2016, https://www.hrw.org/report/2016/10/12/every-25-seconds/human-toll-criminalizing-drug-use-united-states; "Race and the Drug War," Drug Policy Alliance, http:// www.drugpolicy.org/issues/race-and-drug-war.
- 90 Legalization would release 25,000 people based on data from the Brennan Center's Unnecessarily Incarcerated Report. Each prisoner costs on average \$32,000 a year, according to Brennan Center estimates taking Federal Register data and applying BLS inflation rates to it. Applying those savings to each released prisoner yields \$800 million in total. See Lauren-Brooke Eisen, James Austin, James Cullen, Jonathan Frank, and Inimai M. Chettiar, How Many Americans are Unnecessarily Incarcerated?, Brennan Center for Justice, 2016, https://www.brennancenter.org/publication/how-many-americans-are-unnecessarily-incarcerated; "Annual Determination of Average Cost of Incarceration," last modified May 12,

2014, accessed March 9, 2018, https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2014/05/12/2014-10859/ annual-determination-of-average-cost-of-incarceration; "Databases, Table & Calculators by Subject," last modified March 9, 2018, accessed March 9, 2018, https://data.bls.gov/timeseries/CUUR0000S-A0L1E?output_view=pct_12mths.

- 91 Matt Zapotosky, Sari Horwitz and Joel Achenbach, "Use of legalized marijuana threatened as Sessions rescinds Obama-era directive that eased federal enforcement," *The Washington Post*, January 4, 2018, https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/sessions-is-rescinding-obama-era-directive-for-feds-to-back-off-marijuana-enforcement-in-states-with-legal-pot/2018/01/04/b1a42746-f157-11e7-b3bf-ab90a706e175_story.html?utm_term=.3ffd83ed3280.
- 92 Lanae Erickson Hatalsky, Sarah Trumble, and Michelle Diggles, *The Marijuana Middle: Americans Ponder Legalization*, Third Way, 2014, https://www.thirdway.org/report/the-marijuana-middle-americans-ponder-legalization.
- 93 "Drug Scheduling," Drug Enforcement Agency, https://www.dea.gov/druginfo/ds.shtml
- 94 "D.E.A. Keeps Marijuana On List Of Dangerous Drugs, Frustrating Advocates," *The New York Times*, August 12, 2016, http://www.nytimes.com/2016/08/12/health/dea-keeps-marijuana-on-list-of-dangerous-drugs-frustrating-advocates.html?_r=0; for a summary of this administrative process, see John Hudak and Grace Wallack, *How To Reschedule Marijuana, and Why It's Unlikely Anytime Soon*, Brookings Institute, 2015, https://www.brookings.edu/2015/02/13/how-to-reschedule-marijuana-and-why-its-unlikely-anytime-soon/.
- 95 See Lenny Bernstein, "U.S. Affirms Its Prohibition On Medical Marijuana," The Washington Post, August 10, 2016, https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/to-your-health/wp/2016/08/10/u-s-affirms-its-prohibition-on-medical-marijuana/.
- 96 Lauren-Brooke Eisen, James Austin, James Cullen, Jonathan Frank, and Inimai M. Chettiar, *How Many Americans are Unnecessarily Incarcerated?*, Brennan Center for Justice, 2016, https://www.brennancenter.org/publication/how-many-americans-are-unnecessarily-incarcerated.
- 97 "New Drug Policy Alliance Report: It's Time for the U.S. to Decriminalize Drug Use and Possession," Drug Policy Alliance, July 9, 2017, http://www.drugpolicy.org/news/2017/07/new-drug-policy-alliancereport-its-time-us-decriminalize-drug-use-and-possession.
- 98 Anna Brown, "Republicans more likely than Democrats to have confidence in police," Pew Research Center, January 13, 2017 http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/01/13/republicans-more-likely-than-democrats-to-have-confidence-in-police/.
- 99 Of \$7.3 billion in grants between 1994 and 2001, \$4.7 billion were marked for officer hiring. "Community Policing Grants: COPS Grants Were A Modest Contributor To Declines In Crime In The 1990s," United States Government Accountability Office, 2005, 11, http://www.gao.gov/assets/250/248152.pdf.

- 100 Office of Management and Budget, *An American Budget: 2019 Major Savings and Reforms*, 2018, 59, https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/msar-fy2019.pdf.
- 101 This figure estimates the cost of paying the salary of 100,000 officers for five years, with additional assumptions for the cost of training, and for typical employee benefits programs.
- 102 International Association of Chiefs of Police, "Legislative Agenda for the 115th Congress," 2016, 2, http:// www.theiacp.org/Portals/0/documents/pdfs/IACPPolicyPriorities.pdf.
- 103 Lauren-Brooke Eisen, James Austin, James Cullen, Jonathan Frank, and Inimai M. Chettiar, *How Many Americans are Unnecessarily Incarcerated?*, Brennan Center for Justice, 2016, 11, https://www.brennancenter.org/publication/how-many-americans-are-unnecessarily-incarcerated.
- 104 Ronal Serpas, "Written Testimony on House Bill 489 to House Committee on Administration of Criminal Justice," May 9, 2017, http://lawenforcementleaders.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/Serpas_Testimony-HB-489.pdf.
- 105 "Mayor de Blasio Announces \$90 Million Investment in Reducing Low-Level Arrests for People with Behavioral Health Needs," May 12, 2017, http://www1.nyc.gov/office-of-the-mayor/news/302-17/mayorde-blasio-90-million-investment-reducing-low-level-arrests-people-with.
- 106 Susan E. Collins, Heather S. Lonczak, and Seema L. Clifasefi, LEAD Program Evaluation: Recidivism Report, 2015, 3-5, http://static1.1.sqspcdn.com/static/f/1185392/26121870/1428513375150/IEaD_EvalUa-TiOn_4-7-15.pdf?token=xTmZUgmkb4HTY3bnogXuOi8Uows%3D.
- 107 Erica Goode, "Stronger Hand for Judges in the 'Bazaar' of Plea Deals," *The New York Times*, March 22, 2012, http://www.nytimes.com/2012/03/23/us/stronger-hand-for-judges-after-rulings-on-plea-deals.html.
- 108 Attorney General Jeff Sessions, *Memorandum for All Federal Prosecutors*, May 10, 2017, https://www.justice.gov/opa/%20press-release/file/965896/download.
- 109 U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics, *Corrections Statistical Analysis Tool (CSAT) -Prisoners*, Washington, D.C., 2017, https://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=nps, showing 215,866 in 2013 and 189,192 in 2016.
- 110 Sari Horowitz and Matt Zapotosky, "Sessions Issues Sweeping New Criminal Charging Policy," *The Washington Post*, https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/sessions-issues-sweeping-new-criminal-charging-policy/2017/05/11/4752bd42-3697-11e7-b373-418f6849a004_story.html?utm_term=. a0de62aa17a6.
- 111 Lauren-Brooke Eisen, The Reverse Mass Incarceration Act, Brennan Center for Justice, 2015, 6-7, http:// www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/publications/The_Reverse_Mass_Incarceration_Act%20.pdf.
- 112 Nicole Fortier, Federal Prosecution for the 21st Century: Fiscal Impact Statement, Brennan Center for Justice, 2015, http://www.brennancenter.org/publication/federal-prosecution-21st-century-federal-cost-savings-estimate.

- 113 W. David Ball, "Defunding State Prisons," Criminal Law Bulletin 50, 2014, 1063, https://digitalcommons. law.scu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://www.google.com/&httpsredir=1&article=1606&context=facpubs.
- 114 "Targeted Community Alternatives to Prison," accessed March 9, 2018, http://www.drc.ohio.gov/tcap/announcement.
- 115 Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority, *2014 Annual Report*, 2015, 16, http://www.icjia.state.il.us/ assets/pdf/AnnualReport/AnnualReportFY14.pdf.
- 116 Inimai Chettiar et al., Reforming Funding to Reduce Mass Incarceration, Brennan Center for Justice, 2013, https://www.brennancenter.org/publication/reforming-funding-reduce-mass-incarceration; Lauren-Brooke Eisen, Nicole Fortier, and Inimai Chettiar, Federal Prosecution for the 21st Century, Brennan Center for Justice, 2014, https://www.brennancenter.org/publication/federal-prosecution-21st-century.
- 117 Lauren-Brooke Eisen, Nicole Fortier, Inimai Chettiar, *Federal Prosecution for the 21st Century*, https://www. brennancenter.org/publication/federal-prosecution-21st-century.
- 118 Tom Dart, "Houston's new district attorney stands by her bold move to decriminalize marijuana," *The Guardian*, April 18, 2017, https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2017/apr/18/houston-district-attor-ney-kim-ogg-marijuana-decriminalization-texas.
- 119 J. David Goodman, "Turnstile Jumping Pits de Blasio Against Police Refomers," *The New York Times*, February 7, 2018, https://www.nytimes.com/2018/02/07/nyregion/farebeating-subway-enforcement-nyc.html.
- 120 James C. McKinley, "644,000 Old Warrants Scrapped for Crimes Like Public Drinking," *The New York Times*, August 9, 2017, https://www.nytimes.com/2017/08/09/nyregion/644000-old-warrants-scrapped-for-crimeslike-public-drinking.html.
- 121 James Austin and Lauren-Brooke Eisen, *How Many Americans Are Unnecessarily Incarcerated?*, Brennan Center for Justice, 2016, https://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/publications/Unnecessarily_Incarcerat-ed_0.pdf.
- 122 James C. McKinley, "Some Prosecutors Stop Asking for Bail in Minor Cases," *The New York Times*, January 9, 2018, https://www.nytimes.com/2018/01/09/nyregion/bail-prosecutors-new-york.html; Andrew Parent, "Philly DA Larry Krasner to end cash bail for two dozen non-violent crimes," *Philly Voice*, February 21, 2018, http://www.phillyvoice.com/da-larry-krasner-wont-seek-cash-bail-certain-offenses/.
- 123 German Lopez, "Drug Overdose Deaths Skyrocketed in 2016 and Traditional Opioid Painkillers Weren't the Cause," Vox, Sep. 5, 2017, https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/2017/9/5/16255040/opioid-epidemic-overdose-death-2016; Centers for Disease Control, "Vital Statistics Rapid Release: Provisional Drug Overdose Death Counts," last accessed March 2, 2018.
- 124 Neal E. Boudette, "U.S. Traffic Deaths Rise for a Second Straight Year," The New York Times, February 15,

2017, https://www.nytimes.com/2017/02/15/business/highway-traffic-safety.html, placing the number of U.S. traffic deaths at roughly 40,000).

- 125 Andrew M. Seaman, "More Than a Third of U.S. Adults Prescribed Opioids in 2015," Reuters, July 31, 2017, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-opioids-prescriptions/more-than-a-third-of-us-adults-prescribedopioids-in-2015-idUSKBN1AG2K6.
- 126 Gabe Gutierrez et al., "Welcome to Williamson, W.Va, Where There Are 6,500 Opioid Pills per Person," NBC News, February 1, 2018, https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/welcome-williamson-w-va-wherethere-are-6-500-opioid-n843821.
- 127 Roni Dengler, "Almost Half of All Opioid Misuse Starts with a Friend or Family Member's Prescription," PBS Newshour, July 31, 2017, https://www.pbs.org/newshour/health/opioid-misuse-starts-friend-family-members-prescription.
- 128 "Drug Overdose Death Data 2016 Deaths," Centers for Disease Control, last accessed February 28, 2018, https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/data/statedeaths.html.
- 129 For the commission's final report, see Gov. Chris Christie et al., Report of the President's Commission on Combating Drug Addiction and the Opioid Crisis, 2017, https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/ images/Final_Report_Draft_11-1-2017.pdf.
- 130 President Donald J. Trump, "Combatting Drug Demand and the Opioid Crisis," Washington, D.C., Oct. 26, 2017, The White House, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/remarks-president-trump-combatting-drug-demand-opioid-crisis/.
- 131 Brianna Ehley, "Trump Declared an Opioids Emergency. Then Nothing Changed," Politico, January 11, 2018, https://www.politico.com/story/2018/01/11/opioids-epidemic-trump-addiction-emergency-order-335848.
- 132 German Lopez, "Congress's Budget Deal Doesn't Do Enough to Fight the Opioid Crisis," Vox, February 9, 2018, https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/2018/2/8/16988236/congress-federal-bud-get-opioid-crisis.
- 133 Matthew Yglesias, "Congress Still Isn't Taking the Opioid Crisis Seriously," Vox, February 9, 2018, https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/2018/2/9/16991340/opioid-funding-budget-deal.
- 134 President Donald J. Trump, "Remarks by President Trump on Combatting Drug Demand and the Opioid Crisis" Green Bay, Wisconsin, August 29, 2017, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/remarks-president-trump-combatting-drug-demand-opioid-crisis/.
- 135 "How We Will Win the War on Opioids," White House, last accessed March 12, 2018, https://www.whitehouse.gov/articles/will-win-war-opioids/.

- 136 Press Release, U.S. Department of Justice, "Attorney General Sessions and Acting DEA Administrator Patterson Announce New Tools to Address Opioid Crisis," November 29, 2017, https:// www.justice.gov/opa/pr/attorney-general-sessions-and-acting-dea-administrator-patterson-announce-new-tools-address.
- 137 Press Release, U.S. Department of Justice, "Department of Justice Announces Significant Tool in Prosecuting Opioid Traffickers in Emergency Scheduling of All Fentanyls," November 9, 2017, https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/department-justice-announces-significant-tool-prosecuting-opioid-traffickers-emergency.
- 138 President Donald J. Trump, "Remarks by President Trump on Combatting Drug Demand and the Opioid Crisis," Green Bay, Wisconsin, August 29, 2017, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/remarks-president-trump-combatting-drug-demand-opioid-crisis/.
- 139 Randy W. Elder et al., "The Effectiveness of Tax Policy Interventions for Reducing Excessive Alcohol Consumption and Related Harms," *American Journal of Preventative Medicine 38* (2010): 217-229, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3735171/; Chuck Marr and Chye-Ching Huang, "Higher Tobacco Taxes Can Improve Health and Raise Revenue," Center for Budget & Policy Priorities, 2014, https://www.cbpp.org/research/higher-tobacco-taxes-can-improve-healthand-raise-revenue.
- 140 Budgeting for Opioid Addiction Treatment Act of 2018, S. 523, 115th Congress (2018), https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/523/.
- 141 Combating the Opioid Epidemic Act, S. 2004, 115th Cong. (2017), https://www.congress.gov/ bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/2004/.
- 142 The bill would amend 42 U.S.C. § 290ee-3 note ("Account for the State Response to the Opioid Abuse Crisis"), a provision of the 21st Century Cares Act, Pub. L. No. 114-255, 130 Stat. 1033, 1044-45 (2016), which appropriated money to address the opioid crisis and authorized grants for opioid addiction treatment. See 42 U.S.C. 290ee-3 note at (c)(2)(C)-(D), http://uscode.house.gov/ view.xhtml?req=(title:42%20section:290ee-3%20edition:prelim). Specifically, S. 2004 would add additional appropriations through fiscal year 2027 for the 21st Century Cares Act's opioid grants, which support treatment programs. See Combating the Opioid Epidemic Act, S. 2004, 115th Cong. § 2(a)(2) (2017)
- 143 Eunice Park-Lee, Rachel N. Lipari, and Sarra L. Hedden, *Receipt of Services for Substance Use and Mental Health Issues Among Adults: Results from the 2015 National Survey on Drug Use and Health*, National Survey on Drug Use and Health, https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NS-DUH-ServiceUseAdult-2015/NSDUH-ServiceUseAdult-201
- 144 Gov. Chris Christie et al., *Report of the President's Commission on Combating Drug Addiction and the Opioid Crisis*, 2017, 94, https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/images/Final_Report_Draft_11-1-2017.pdf.

- 145 Matthias Pierce et. al, "Impact of Treatment for Opioid Dependency on Fatal Drug-Related Poisoning: a National Cohort Study in England," *Addiction 111*, November 2015, 298, http://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/10.1111/add.13193/full; German Lopez, "There's a Highly Successful Treatment for Opioid Addiction. But Stigma is Holding it Back," Vox, November 15, 2017, https://www.vox.com/science-andhealth/2017/7/20/15937896/medication-assisted-treatment-methadone-buprenorphine-naltrexone.
- 146 Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, *Continuing Progress on the Opioid Epidemic: The Role of the Affordable Care Act, Department of Health and Human Services*, January 2011, https:// aspe.hhs.gov/system/files/pdf/255456/ACAOpioid.pdf, citing "cost, insurance coverage, and availability" as major barriers to treatment. See also "Effective Treatments for Opioid Addiction," National Institute on Drug Abuse, last accessed March 2, 2018, https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/effective-treatments-opioid-addiction/effective-treatments-opioid-addiction, "Nearly all U.S. states do not have sufficient treatment capacity to provide MAT to all patients with an opioid use disorder."
- 147 Kaiser Family Foundation, *Medicaid's Role in Addressing the Opioid Epidemic*, February 27, 2018, https://www.kff.org/infographic/medicaids-role-in-addressing-opioid-epidemic/.
- 148 Office of Management and Budget, *Budget of the United States Government: Fiscal Year 2019*, 2018, 19-21, 49-51, 143-44, https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/budget-fy2019.pdf.
- 149 Kaiser Family Foundation, *Medicaid's Role in Addressing the Opioid Epidemic*, February 27, 2018, https://www.kff.org/infographic/medicaids-role-in-addressing-opioid-epidemic/.
- 150 Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, *Continuing Progress on the Opioid Epidemic: The Role of the Affordable Care Act, Department of Health and Human Services*, January 2011, https:// aspe.hhs.gov/system/files/pdf/255456/ACAOpioid.pdf.
- 151 Drug Policy Alliance, "The American Health Care Act's Rollback of Medicaid Risks Rash of Overdoses in States Hardest Hit by Opioid Crisis," Press Release, March 19, 2017, http://www.drugpolicy.org/ news/2017/03/american-health-care-acts-rollback-medicaid-risks-rash-overdoses-states-hardest-hit-opi; Kaiser Family Foundation, *Medicaid's Role in Addressing the Opioid Epidemic*, February 27, 2018, https:// www.kff.org/infographic/medicaids-role-in-addressing-opioid-epidemic/.
- 152 The President's Commission on Combating Drug Addiction and the Opioid Crisis, *Final Report*, 2017, 61-65, https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/images/Final_Report_Draft_11-1-2017.pdf.
- 153 For investigative reporting on prosecutions of major drug manufacturers, and why some cases have failed to materialize, see Lenny Bernstein and Scott Higham, "We Feel Like Our System Was Hijacked': DEA Agents Say a Huge Opioid Case Ended in a Whimper," *The Washington Post*, December 17, 2017, https://www.washingtonpost.com/investigations/mckesson-dea-opioids-fine/2017/12/14/ab50ad0edb5b-11e7-b1a8-62589434a581_story.html?utm_term=.1d0a0ea7e0a5.
- 154 Sari Horwitz et al., "Justice Dept. to Target Opioid Manufacturers, Distributors in New Push to Curb Deadly Epidemic," *The Washington Post*, February 27, 2018, https://www.washingtonpost.com/national/ health-science/justice-dept-to-target-opioid-manufacturers-distributors-in-new-push-to-curb-deadly-epidemic/2018/02/27/817089fa-1bd4-11e8-9de1-147dd2df3829_story.html?utm_term=.61a8471d5bc9.

- 155 Forthcoming Brennan Center analysis based on data from "Drug Overdose Death Data 2016 Deaths," Centers for Disease Control, last accessed February 28, 2018, https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/data/ statedeaths.html, and Christine L. Mattson and Puja Seth, *Annual Surveillance Report of Drug-Related Risks and Outcomes*, Center for Disease Control, 2017, 41, https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/pdf/ pubs/2017-cdc-drug-surveillance-report.pdf. See also Amy S. B. Bohnert, PhD; Marcia Valenstein, M.D. and Matthew J. Bair, M.D., "Association Between Opioid Prescribing Patterns and Opioid Overdose-Related Deaths," *The Journal of the American Medical Association Network*, 2011, https://jamanetwork.com/ journals/jama/fullarticle/896182.
- 156 Sally Satel, "The Myth of What's Driving the Opioid Crisis," Politico, February 21, 2018, https://www.politico.com/magazine/story/2018/02/21/the-myth-of-the-roots-of-the-opioid-crisis-217034.
- 157 Sarah Frostenson, "New Jersey Just Passed One of the Most Aggressive Laws to Combat the Opioid Epidemic," Vox, February 15, 2017, https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/2017/2/15/14506434/ republicans-democrats-opioid-abuse-bipartisan.
- 158 Scott Goss, "Delaware Tightens Prescription Drug Rules," *Delaware News Journal*, February 1, 2017, https://www.delawareonline.com/story/news/health/2017/02/01/delaware-tightens-prescription-drug-rules/97335210/.
- 159 The Medicaid "expansion" was originally mandatory, but determined by the Supreme Court to be an unconstitutional use of federal spending power. The "expansion" is now permissive states must opt in to the program and work with the federal government to implement it. See *Nat'l Fed'n of Independent Bus. v. Sebelius*, 567 U.S. at 575,76, 585-88. For the expansion provision itself, see 42 U.S.C. 1396a(a) (10)(A)(i)(VIII).
- 160 Matt Broaddus et al., "Medicaid Expansion Dramatically Increased Cover for People with Opioid-Use Disorders, Latest Data Show," Center for Budget & Policy Priorities, 2018, https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/medicaid-expansion-dramatically-increased-coverage-for-people-with-opioid-use. See also Foundation for a Healthy Kentucky, "Substance Use Treatment Services Covered by Medicaid Expansion Jumped 740 Percent Over 2.5 Years," Press Release, December 28, 2016, https://www.healthy-ky.org/ newsroom/news-releases/article/60/substance-use-treatment-services-covered-by-medicaid-expansionjumped-740-percent-over-2.5-years.
- 161 "Medicaid's Role in Addressing the Opioid Epidemic," last modified February 27, 2018, accessed March 4, 2018, https://www.kff.org/infographic/medicaids-role-in-addressing-opioid-epidemic/.
- 162 Matt Broaddus et al., "Medicaid Expansion Dramatically Increased Cover for People with Opioid-Use Disorders, Latest Data Show," Center for Budget & Policy Priorities, 2018, https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/medicaid-expansion-dramatically-increased-coverage-for-people-with-opioid-use.
- 163 Law Enforcement Leaders to Reduce Crime and Incarceration, *A Crime and Justice Agenda for the New Administration*, 2017, http://lawenforcementleaders.org/fighting-crime-strengthening-criminal-jus-tice-agenda-new-administration/.

- 164 For general population data see World Bank Data, last accessed February 27, 2018, https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL.FE.IN?locations=US-1W. For female imprisonment data see Roy Walmsley, *World Female Imprisonment List*, Institute for Criminal Policy Research, Fourth Edition, 2017, 5, http://www.prisonstudies.org/sites/default/files/resources/downloads/world_female_prison_4th_edn_ v4_web.pdf.
- 165 Carson, Prisoners in 2016, 3. E. Ann Carson and Daniela Golinelli, "Prisoners in 2012," U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2013, https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/p12tar9112.pdf.
- 166 Elizabeth Swavola, Kristine Riley, and Ram Subramanian, Overlooked: Women and Jails in an Era of Reform, The Vera Institute, 2016, 11, https://www.vera.org/publications/overlooked-women-and-jails-report; Becki Ney, Rachelle Ramirez, and Marilyn Van Dieten, eds., Ten Truths That Matter When Working With Justice Involved Women, National Resource Center on Justice Involved Women, 2015, 2, http:// tinyurl.com/h5cg26t
- 167 Sarah Yager, "Prison Born," *The Atlantic*, July/August, 2015, https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2015/07/prison-born/395297/.
- 168 Dignity for Incarcerated Women Act of 2017, S. 1524, 115th Cong. (2017).
- 169 Barbara Bloom, Barbara Owen, and Stephanie Covington, Gender Responsive Strategies: Research, Practice, and Guiding Principles for Women Offenders, National Institute of Corrections, 2003, 57, https://nicic. gov/gender-responsive-strategies-research-practice-and-guiding-principles-women-offenders.
- 170 Wendy Sawyer, *The Gender Divide: Tracking women's state prison growth*, Prison Policy Initiative, 2018, https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/women_overtime.html.
- 171 Ibid.
- 172 H.B. 2998, 2010 Leg., 52nd Sess. (Ok. 1999) (enacted), http://www.oklegislature.gov/cf_pdf/2009-10%20FLR/hflr/hb2998%20hflr.pdf.
- 173 Sarah Glazer, "Women in Prison: Should they be treated differently from men?," *CQ Researcher*, 27, 2017, 200, http://library.cqpress.com/cqresearcher/document.php?id=cqresrre2017030300.

<u>BRENNAN</u> <u>CENTER</u> For Justice

at New York University School of Law

120 BROADWAY 17TH FLOOR NEW YORK, NY 10271 <u>WWW.B</u>RENNANCENTER.ORG